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DECISION AND ORDER

This is a proceeding brought before the Occupational Safety and Health Review Commission

(“The Commission”) pursuant to section 10 of the Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1970

(“Act”), 29 U.S.C. § 651 et. seq.

As a result of an inspection of Respondent’s worksite located at Oklahoma City, Oklahoma

during the period October 19, 1993 to November 17, 1993, the Occupational Safety and Health

Administration (“OSHA”) issued one willful citation to Respondent dated April 18, 1994 alleging

one hundred and seven (107) violations of the so called lockout/tagout standard (LOTO) set forth
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Respondent’s Petition For Interlocutory Review and Stay of Proceedings regarding that decision was denied

by the Review Commission on August 16, 1994.
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at 29 C.F.R. § 1910.147 et seq. with a proposed penalty of $70,000 for each violation.  The total

proposed penalty was $7,490,000.00.  Respondent filed a timely notice contesting the citation and

a complaint was filed by the Secretary of Labor (“Secretary”) with this Commission on May 23,

1994.  On June 15, 1994, Respondent filed its answer admitting the jurisdictional allegations,

generally denying the allegations within the complaint and citation, and asserting ten affirmative

defenses.  In addition to filing its answer, Respondent filed a Motion to Dismiss and/or For

Summary Judgment on the ground that the complaint and citation filed by the Secretary were time

barred by the six-month statute of limitation set forth at section 9(c) of the Act.  That motion was

denied by the undersigned in an order dated July 26, 1994.1

The citation issued to Respondent was incorporated in its entirety as an exhibit to the

complaint.  As previously stated, the citation contained 107 separate alleged violations.  These

violations fall within five categories.  First, violations 1 through 6 alleged separate violations of  29

C.F.R. § 1910.147(c)(4)(i); that Respondent failed to develop, document and utilize procedures for

the control of potentially hazardous energy for seven distinct types of machines within the plant.

(Respondent’s Statement of Position dated April 11, 1995) Second, violation 7 alleges that

Respondent violated 29 C.F.R. § 1910.147(c)(5)(i) by failing to provide locks, tags, chains or other

appropriate equipment to authorized employees in order to isolate, secure, or block machines or

equipment from energy sources.  This single item applies to all of the machinery and equipment

which Complainant asserts were subject to LOTO procedures.  Third, violations 8(a) and 8(b) allege

violations of 29 C.F.R. § 1910.147(c)(6)(i) and (c)(6)(ii), respectively, in that Respondent failed to

conduct an annual or more frequent inspection of its energy control procedure (item 8(a)) and failed

to certify that said inspections had been conducted (item 8(b)).  These violations apply to all of the

machinery subject to LOTO and were combined for purposes of proposing a single penalty.  The

fourth category constitutes the bulk of the citation in terms of the number of alleged violations and

the proposed penalty.  Alleged violations 9 through 106 list 98 employees who, according to

Complainant, were not trained at the “authorized level” as required by 29 C.F.R. § 1910.147(c)(7)(i).

Each separate violation of this standard has been assessed a proposed penalty of $70,000 by the
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This violation alleges that Respondent failed  to train  a BE I attendant, who unjam s the extruders and m ills

in the Tubing Department, at the  authorized leve l. 
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Secretary.  The total proposed penalty for Respondent’s alleged failure to train its employees was

originally $6,860,000.  Fifth, Respondent has been cited for one alleged violation of 29 C.F.R. §

1910.147(d) (item 107) in that Respondent failed to utilize LOTO procedures while an employee

was engaged in setup operations on a specifically identified machine on October 19, 1993.  Each

alleged violation has been classified as “willful” and assessed the maximum proposed penalty of

$70,000.

During the course of this litigation, the Secretary moved to amend the citation and/or

complaint on four occasions.  By motion dated July 18, 1994, Complainant sought to amend the

complaint by (a) adding the names of three additional employees exposed to alleged hazards, (b)

identifying an additional hazardous activity, i.e., changing P.C.I. rings for items 3,7,8(a), 8(b), 35,

41, and 50 of the citation, and (c) adding an additional alleged failure to train violation (item 108).2

By motion dated August 3, 1994, Complainant sought leave to correct a clerical error set forth at

paragraph VI of the complaint.  By motion dated February 10, 1995, Complainant sought to amend

the citation by withdrawing the alleged violations set forth at items 13, 18, 31, 49, 84, 88 and 99 and

the proposed penalty for each violation for a total penalty reduction of $560,000.  Complainant also

corrected misspelled names at items 46, 48, 60, 72, 74, and 77 as well as the job classifications for

employees listed in items 14 and 23 of the citation.  By motion dated September 6, 1995

Complainant moved to amend the citation and complaint to conform to the evidence to include the

“Dayton Loader” in the descriptive language of items 4, 19, 58 and 108 of the citation as a piece of

equipment which present hazards to employees.  All of these motions were granted.

The parties engaged in vigorous and lengthy pretrial discovery which raised several

procedural disputes.  These disputes were resolved and the matter was set for trial to commence

April 11, 1995 at Oklahoma City, Oklahoma.  Respondent filed a Motion For Summary Judgment

prior to trial seeking judgment in its favor on the grounds that (1) the evidence developed by the

parties during discovery failed to support the Secretary’s allegation that Respondent “willfully”

violated the standards and (2) citing violations on an instance-by-instance basis is inappropriate in

this case because all of the exposed employees were exposed to a single alleged hazard resulting
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There are a large number of production processes within the plant which are not germane to this litigation.

Only those departments which contain machinery relevant to this litigation are described herein.  Therefore, this should

not be considered as a complete description of the production process.
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from a single course of conduct.  This motion was denied in a Decision and Order dated March 22,

1995.

The hearing commenced on April 11, 1995, at Oklahoma City, Oklahoma and concluded on

September 12, 1995 after thirty-one days of trial and ninety witnesses.  This was a complex litigation

involving multiple legal and factual issues.  Each member of the litigation team for both the

Secretary and Respondent, as well as the employee representative, represented their respective

clients in a vigorous but professional manner often under adverse conditions; not the least of which

was being in close proximity to the site of the Oklahoma City bombing on the day of that tragedy.

BACKGROUND

Respondent, Dayton Tire, is a division of Bridgestone/Firestone, Inc. and is engaged in the

business of  manufacturing tires.  The Oklahoma City, Oklahoma facility which is the subject of this

litigation, is approximately 72 acres in size, employs approximately 1,200 employees and produces

an average of 35,000 tires per day.  The plant was initially opened during 1969 and has continuously

produced tires since that time.  Tire building is a complex process from the initial mixing of the

various grades of rubber to the final inspection function.  The building of a tire was described by one

witness as similar to building a shoe.  The final product consists of a number of different

components that are individually produced and assembled in stages along the production process.

Hundreds of machines performing a large variety of tasks are involved in the process.  The

manufacturing process itself is divided into “departments” and certain types of machines are located

in each department.  The following is a description of those departments which are relevant to this

proceeding.3

The first department in the production process is the Banbury department.  In this department

pigments and rubber used in the manufacturing process are weighed, sorted and mixed.  Various

machines to be described infra are used to perform these functions.  After the rubber is mixed, it

travels into a chute through a transfer mix and roller die to a slitter knife which cuts the rubber into

two sheets.  The rubber sheets are placed into a lubricant solution and run through a cooling

“festoon.”  The rubber is “wig-wagged” by a Dayton loader machine onto pallets for transport to
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other departments.  The rubber at this point has been formed into a long flat and thin sheet

approximately four feet wide.

The next department in the production process is the tubing department.  In this department

rubber is fed into extruders and mills to produce sidewalls and treads for the tires.  Rubber is also

processed in the beadwinding department.  This department produces “beads”; that is, that part of

the tire which fits within the wheel rim.  Employees in this department operate a wire winding

machine which coats strands of wire and forms the coated wire into a circle.  This circle of coated

wire is assembled with other components during the tire building phase.

The tire building department assembles the various components into a “green” tire.  This

assembling process is performed on tire assembly machines (“TAM”) and is performed in two

stages; the so called first stage TAMS and the second stage TAMS.  Only the second stage TAM

machines are relevant to this proceeding.  In the second stage operation, the tire “carcass” produced

in the first stage has placed upon it bands of steel belt and the tire tread.  Respondent utilized three

types of second stage TAMS: the “99”, the  “85” and a modified 85 known as the “M-6.”  These

machines are described in greater detail infra.  At this point in the process, the “green” tire, for the

first time, resembles a finished product tire.

After the second stage tire building department, the green tires are moved to the radial doper

department.  At this point, a machine known as the radial doper applies a lubricant to the interior of

the tire and paints the exterior of the tire.  From the radial doper department, the tires proceed to the

curing department where, by application of heat and pressure in the curing press, the tires are

“cured,” the lettering is imprinted on the side walls and the tread design is formed.  Finally, the tires

are run through a machine known as the “tire uniformity optimizer” (“TUO” or “module”) which

checks the tire for shape, grinds rubber from the white sidewalls and also paints the white sidewalls.

STIPULATIONS

The parties stipulated to the following facts:

Module Operators (Joint Exh. #1)
1. Prior to April 18, 1994, Dayton Tire did not train its employees at the

authorized level.

2. In 1992, Dayton Tire provided its employees with affected level
training.
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3. Between October 19, 1993 and April 18, 1994, Dayton Tire module
operators did not change or install parts in the TUO section of the
machine.

4. Dayton Tire module operators were not given locks prior to April 18,
1994.

5. During the procedure of changing the grinding stone on the white
sidewall grinder, the module operator’s hands generally come into
contract with the grinding stone.

6. The white sidewall grinder section of the module machine is in its
“manual” or “set-up” mode while the module operator performs a
grind stone change.

7. The white sidewall grinder section of the module machine is in its
“manual” or “set-up” mode while the module operator performs a
dust scoop change.  

8. The white sidewall grinder section of the module machine is in its
“manual” or “set-up” mode while the module operator performs a
brake pad change.

9. The white sidewall grinder section of the module machine is in its
“manual” or “set-up” mode while the module operator performs a
chuck change.

10. When a safety rope on a module machine has been “pulled” and has
stopped or prevented the operation of the machine, the safety rope
must be manually reset before the machine can again begin
operations.

TAM Size Changers (Ct. Exh. #4)

1. The second stage TAMs are used for producing 13- to 15-inch
passenger and light truck tires.

2. The 99 TAM and 85 TAM differ in the at the 99 TAM has a
stationary bandbuilder and the entire tire building process proceeds
inline as contrasted to the 85 TAM, other than the M-6 which has the
bandbuilder connected to a swing arm which take the tread and belts
to grab assembly.  In the 99 TAM, a large transfer ring moves on a
traverse in line with the bandbuilder to take the tread assembly from
the bandbuilder and then moves across the traverse to the pie pans to
transfer the tread package to the body ply assembly which is on the
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pie pans.  In the 85 TAM (other then the M-6) the bandbuilder moves
on a swing arm to the transfer carriage, and then once the tread is
transferred to the carriage, it moves down the traverse and places the
tread over the body ply assembly.  The M-6 is an 85 TAM but
performs its functions in an inline fashion without a swing arm. 

3. In order to build a tire of a different size or different specifications of
the same size on a TAM, either a partial or full size change must be
performed.

4. On the 99 TAM, when energized, the bandbuilder and hub can be
rotated forward and reverse; the transfer carriage can be moved from
the pie pans to the bandbuilder; the 6 grab segments can be moved
from an open position (large gaps between the segments) to a close
position (smaller gaps between the segments); and the pie pans can
be rotated.

5. On the M-6 TAM, when energized, the bandbuilder and hub can be
rotated forward and reverse and can be moved by the bandbuilder
assembly on a rail system from the tread tray to the grab assembly.

6. On the M-6 TAM, when energized, the grab assembly can move on
a rail system from a home position to and from the pie pans; the 6
grab segments can be moved from an open position (large gaps
between the segments) to a close position (smaller gaps between the
segments); and the pie pans can be rotated.

7. TAM size changes on the second stage TAMs vary from the simple
change of the specifications of the computer program to a full TAM
size change which include, inter alia, removing and replacing the
bandbuilder, the hub, the grabs and the pie pans, removing and
replacing the belts on the belt servers, adjusting the grabs ands
stitcher, and building the check tires.

8. Robert Julian was employed by Dayton Tire as a TAM size changer
on October 19, 1993.  On that date, he was assigned to perform a full
TAM size change on the M-6 85 TAM.  Mr. Julian completed the
removal and replacement of the components of the M-6 TAM.

9. In 1992, Dayton Tire provided its employees with affected level
training. 

10. A full size change includes changing the hub, pie pans, grabs and
band builder.
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11. When a safety rope on the TAM has been pulled, and has stopped or
prevented the operation of the machine, the safety rope must be
manually reset before the TAM can again begin operations.

12. The check tires built by TAM size changers which meet
specifications are sold by Dayton Tire.

13. Immediately following the Bob Julian accident, Dayton Tire began
an investigation to analyze the possible causes of the accident.

14. On October 19, 1993, TAM size changer Bob Julian was fatally
injured on the Mike 6 TAM.

15. During the period of October 19, 1993 and April 18, 1994, Dayton
Tire facility had first stage TAMs known as BPA or 88B TAMs, and
second stage TAMs designated as 85, M-6 85 and  99 TAMs.

16. There are approximately 18 TAMs of the 85 TAM type and 39 of the
99 TAM type at the facility.

17.  The first stage machines produce what is known as body ply
assembly which consists of, inter alia, a inner liner, ply, beads and
sidewall depending on the type of tire being built.

18. The purpose of the second stage machine is to produce what is known
as the “green tire” or uncured tire.  In general, the second stage
TAMs perform this function by initially assembling the belts and
tread for the tire and then transferring the belt and the tread to the
body ply assembly which has been expanded on the pie pans to form
the tire.  A stitcher seals the tire components together by squeezing
out the air in between the component parts to assure the parts have
adhered together.

19.  The person performing the TAM size change is known as a TAM size
changer or setup person and TAM size changers worked in
Department 134 or Setup.

20. During the period of October 19, 1993 to April 18, 1994, there were
approximately 23 TAM size changers in Department 134.

21.  A TAM size changer can be called upon to perform size changes on
either the first or second stage TAM machines.
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22. A partial size change consists of removing and replacing some, but
not all, of the grabs, pie pans, and/or bandbuilder, individually or in
any combination.

23. In order for the TAM size changer to perform a full size change on
the 99 TAM, 85 TAM and the M-6 TAM, the Tam size changer must
remove and replace the bandbuilder, grabs, pie pans, and hub,
utilizing a wrench to remove and insert bolts.  The TAM size changer
must also lift, remove and insert these parts.  During the course of
these activities of removing and replacing these parts, the TAM size
changer will at various times place parts of his body in the transfer
area of the TAM.

24. The 99 TAMs have electrical, pneumatic, and hydraulic energy
sources; the M-6 85 TAM has electrical and pneumatic energy
sources; and the 85 TAM has electrical, pneumatic, and hydraulic
power with some having gas (nitrogen) assisted hydraulic power as
energy sources.

25. Prior to April 18, 1994, Dayton Tire did not train any TAM size
changers at the authorized level for lockout/tagout purposes.

26. Dayton Tire TAM size changer employees were not provided with
locks and/or tags prior to April 18, 1994.

27. During the period of October 19, 1993 to April 18, 1994, Terry
Hughes, Willie Kinchion, Jackie Whitten, Darrell Mueller, Dennis
Packham, Mark Ward, Lewis Contreras, Richard Parker, Fred Harris,
III, Charles Brannum, Kevin Abrahamson, Larry Westrope, Albert
Starry, Larry Henry, Richard Thompson, Joe Hacker, Jim Cossey and
Helen Jones were employed by Dayton Tire as TAM size changers.

Radial Dopers (Ct. Exh. #4)

1. In 1992, Dayton Tire provided its employees with affected level
training.

2. Radial doper machines are located in the curing department.

3. During the period of October 19, 1993 to April 18, 1994, there were
seven (7) radial dopers in the curing department.
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4. The purpose of the radial doper is to take the green tire produced by
the second stage TAM machines and spray blem paint and dope on
the tire.

5. The blem paint and dope sprayed on the tire is necessary to allow the
tire to be cured properly.

6. The radial doper operator/attendant places the green tires on a
conveyor leading to a clamp arm which picks up the tire and carries
the tire into a spray booth which sprays the blem paint and dope on
the tire.  The clamp arm spins the tire quickly so that the blem paint
and dope can be sprayed throughout the tire.

7. As the clamp arm is spinning the tire, spray nozzles located around
the exterior of the tire spray blem paint on the outside of the tire.
During this process another spray nozzle rises up into the center of
the tire and sprays dope on the inside of each tire.

8. Some of the spray booths of the radial dopers are enclosed in
plexiglass and others are open.

9. Once the blem paint and dope have been sprayed on the green tire,
the clamp arm drops the tire on a conveyor which leads back to the
operator.  The operator/attendant then removes the tires from the
conveyor and places them on a rack.

10. A radial doper operator/attendant is expected to remove the buildup
of blem paint and dope on the clamp arm and spray nozzles
approximately every two (2) hours.

11. During the period of October 19, 1993 to April 18, 1994, the radial
doper attendant/operator placed the machine in manual and brought
the clamp arm into the booth in order to remove the buildup of blem
paint and dope on the clamp arm.

12. Once the clamp arm was in the booth, the operator/attendant used a
wire brush, knife and/or paper towels to remove the blem paint and
dope buildup on the clamp arm.  The operator/attendant had to place
his hands, his arms, and at times his upper body in the cabinet to
clean the clamp arm.  During this process, the operator/attendant’s
body would come within a couple of inches from the clamp arm.

13. To remove the buildup of blem paint and dope from the spray
nozzles, the radial doper operator/attendant reached into the cabinet
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and removed the collar around the nozzles.  Using a wire brush, knife
and/or paper towels, the radial doper attendant/operator removed the
buildup of blem paint and dope from the nozzles and then reinstalled
the collar.

14. The energy sources for the radial doper included electrical and
pneumatic sources.

15. During the period of October 19, 1993 to April 18, 1994, the energy
sources were not locked out during the removal of blem paint and
dope from the clamp arm and spray nozzles.

16. During the period of October 19, 1993 to April 18, 1994, the
following people were employed by Dayton Tire as radial doper
operators/attendants: Herman Ashlock; Robert Pound; Phil Burrous;
Kevin O’ Connor; Brad Hall; Chris Guthery; Alfred Watson; Allen
Van Meter; Mike Woody; and John Decesaro.

17. Radial doper operators/attendants employed by Dayton Tire between
October 19, 1993 to April 18, 1994 removed the buildup of blem
paint and dope from the clamp arm and spray nozzles as part of their
duties.

18. Prior to April 18, 1994, none of the radial doper operators/attendants
had been trained at the authorized level for lockout/tagout purposes.

19. During the period of October 19, 1993 to April 18, 1994, Dayton Tire
considered all the radial doper operators/attendants to be affected
employees, and none of the radial doper operators/attendants used
lockout/tagout procedures when they removed the buildup of blem
paint and dope from the clamp arm and spray nozzle.

20. Before April 18, 1994, none of the radial doper operators/attendants
had been provided with locks, tags, chains, wedges, key blocks,
adapter pins, self locking fasteners, or other hardware for isolating,
securing, or blocking of machines or equipment from energy sources.

21. During the period of October 19, 1993 to April 18, 1994, Mr. Lee
Jones was employed by Dayton Tire as a utility and service employee
in the curing department.

22. As a utility and service employee for the curing department, Mr. Lee
Jones was subject to and performed the duties of a radial doper
attendant during the period of October 19, 1993 to April 18, 1994,
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including removing the buildup of blem paint and dope from the
clamp arm and spray nozzles.

23. Prior to April 18, 1994, Lee Jones had not been trained at the
authorized level for lockout/tagout purposes, and Dayton Tire
considered Lee Jones to be an affected employee.

24. During the period of October 19, 1993 to April 18, 1994, Lee Jones
never used lockout/tagout procedures when he removed the buildup
of blem paint and dope from the clamp arm and spray nozzles.

25. Before April 18, 1994, Lee Jones had not been provided with locks,
tags, chains, wedges, key blocks, adapter pins, self locking fasteners,
or other hardware for isolating, securing, or blocking of machines or
equipment from energy sources.

Mold/Bladder Changer (Ct. Exh. #4)

1. In 1992, Dayton Tire provided its employees with affected level
training.

2. A mold changer never performs a PCI ring change without also
performing a mold change.

3. The Dayton Tire plant at Oklahoma City, Oklahoma also includes
Department 132, the Curing Department.

4. The Curing Department includes 220 curing presses of which 180 are
normally in use.

5. The curing press takes the green tire from the radial doper area and
vulcanizes the tire through heat and pressure into the shape of the
finished tire.

6. The plant has curing presses of two sizes.  The presses have a pair of
either 40-1/2 inch or 43 inch diameter platens.

7. The curing press has two sides.  On the front side is a large and heavy
press which contains two molds primarily made of aluminum and
steel which sit side by side.  The upper part of the press can be moved
up and down.  Among the other parts of the front side of the curing
press are the tire loaders which are attached to the front of the press.
The tire loader can move with the upper portion of the press, and can
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move independently of the press.   On the back side of the press are
four post cure inflators.

8. Green tires are placed in front of the press and tire loaders move
mechanically down on a motor and chain system to pick up the tires
and place them in the molds for curing.  Once inside and with the
press closed, the bladder which is made of rubber, inflates and pushes
the tire against the mold to form the tread design and lettering.  The
tire is vulcanized by a combination of steam, heat and pressure.
When that process is complete, the tires are removed onto post cure
inflators (PCI) to be inflated and cooled.  The PCI then mechanically
places the cured tires onto a conveyor to be sent to final inspection.

9. Two functions which the mold/bladder changer must perform are
changing the molds and PCI rings.

10. The molds are changed to accommodate a different type or size of
tire.  To accomplish a mold change, the mold/bladder changer
removes the bladders, the ejector head, and the mold.  Once those
components are removed, the mold/bladder changer installs new
molds, new ejector head and new bladders.

11. In order to accomplish these functions, the mold changer must reach
inside the center of the mold to remove the bladder and ejector heads.
During various parts of this function, the mold changer will have
parts of his body directly below the tire loader.  The mold changer
must move the press up and down to remove the bolts to allow the
mold to be removed.   While loosening the bolts, the mold changer
must reach across the mold.  The employee uses a forklift to move
the molds out of the press and place molds into the press.  Similarly,
the mold changer reverses the process to reinstall the parts which
again caused him to be at times below the tire loader and the press
itself.  

12. At all times during the mold change the curing press is placed in
manual and energized.

13. A PCI ring change is performed whenever the bead size of the tire
being cured changes, e.g. 13 inch to 14 inches.

14. To perform PCI ring change, the mold changer places the PCI in
manual and closes the yoke.  The mold changer removes the two
bolts on the top ring and two bolts on the bottom ring.  The mold
bladder changer opens the yoke then removes the old rings and
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installs new rings.  The mold changer closes the yoke and reinstalls
the four bolts.  The mold changer would repeat this process for the
other side.

15. The energy sources on the curing press are pneumatic, electrical and
steam.      

16. The PCI is energized throughout the installation of new rings.

17. The energy sources for the PCI are electrical and pneumatic.

18. During the period of October 19, 1993 to April 18, 1994, Mr. Daniel
Trine, Ms. Stephanie Todd, Mr. Don Perkes, Mr. Tom Elwell, MR.
Jim Lindsey, Mr. Jodie Turner, Mr. Roy Weil, and Mr. Jim Earle
were employed by Dayton Tire as mold/bladder changers.

DISCUSSION

At the conclusion of the hearing, the parties filed post hearing memoranda of law and reply

memoranda.  Before discussing the particular merits of this case, it is necessary to consider two

issues raised by Respondent in its memoranda which, if decided in Respondent’s favor, would

dispose of this matter without further analysis of the facts and the application of law. 

First, Respondent renews its argument that the citation issued in this case was not timely

issued in accordance with § 9(c) of the Act and, therefore, should be vacated.  Respondent points

to the testimony of compliance officer Kearney that she viewed conditions at Respondent’s worksite

which she believed presented “lockout/tagout hazards” as early as June 14, 1993.  (Tr. 4632-33,

4667)  Since the citation was issued more than six months after that date, Respondent argues that

the citation is time barred by section 9(c) of the statute.  This argument was made and considered

at length by the undersigned in a decision issued July 26, 1994, in response to Respondent’s Motion

For Summary Judgment, wherein it was concluded that the citation was not time barred.  Relying

upon Secretary of Labor v. Safeway Store No. 914, 16 BNA OSHC 1504 (1993), this ALJ stated:

“[A]ccording to the pleadings...the citation issued in this matter is based upon information gathered

during the inspection conducted from October 19, 1993 to November 17, 1993.  Section 9(c) does

not bar the Secretary  from citing the employer for violations observed during that inspection

notwithstanding the fact that the same or similar violations were observed, but not cited, during an

earlier inspection.”  Respondent has not raised anything at this point in the litigation which was not
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29 C.F.R. § 1910.147(a)(1)(i) provides: This standard covers the servicing and maintenance of machines and

equipment in which the unexpected energization or start up of the machines or equipment, or release of stored energy

could cause injury to employees.  This standard established minimum performance requirements for the control of such

hazardous energy (emphasis in the original).

5
29 C.F.R. § 1910.147(a)(2)(ii)(B) provides: (ii) Normal production operations are  not covered by this standard

(See subpart O of this part).  Servicing and/or maintenance which takes place during normal production operations is

covered by this standard only if:

* * *

(B) An employee is required to place any part of his or her body into an area on a machine or piece of equipment where

work is actually being processed (point of operation) or where an associated danger zone exists during a machine

operating cycle.

NOTE: Exception to paragraph (a)(2)(ii):

Minor tool changes and adjustments, and other minor servicing activities, which

take place during normal production operations, are not covered by this standard if

they are routine, repetitive, and integral to the use of the equipment for production,

provided that the work is performed using alternative measures which provide

effective protection (See subpart O of this part).
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before the court prior to the issuance of that decision.  Accordingly, there is nothing in this record

which mandates a reconsideration and reversal of that decision.

The second dispositive issue raised by Respondent asserts that the LOTO standard is

unenforceably vague by its terms and the citation and complaint, without any reference to the

specific facts of this matter, should be vacated on that basis.  Respondent points specifically to the

term “unexpected energization” set forth at 29 C.F.R. § 1910.147(a)(1)4 and the terms “minor

servicing activities” and alternative “effective” protection set forth in the note at 29 C.F.R. §

1910.147(a)(2)(ii)(B)5 as being undefined, vague and imprecise.  Respondent asserts that the

aforesaid terms are subject to multiple interpretations and it is not possible to predict or anticipate

the Secretary’s interpretation of those terms.

It is well established that “statutes and regulations which purport to govern conduct must

give an adequate warning of what they command or forbid.” Diebold, Inc. v. Marshall, 585 F.2d

1327 (6th Cir. 1978).  The Commission has stated that “[a]n employer can only be required to

comply with requirements of which it has either actual notice or notice derived from the language

of the regulation and surrounding circumstances.” Secretary of Labor v. J.A. Jones Construction

Company, 15 BNA OSHC 2201, 2205 (1993) (quoting Diebold, Inc. v. Marshall supra).  See also

United States v. L. Cohen Grocery, 255 U.S. 81 (1921).  Moreover, “the applicability of penal
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sanctions in regulations is  to be narrowly construed by the judiciary and...OSHA regulations must

‘be written in clear and concise language so that employees will be better able to understand and

apply them’....” Kropp Forge v. Secretary of Labor, 657 F.2d 119, 122 (7th Cir. 1981) (quoting

Dravo Corporation v. OSHRC, 613 F.2d 1227, 1234 (3rd Cir. 1980)).  The Commission has held,

however, that “[a]bsolute precision of language...is not required, and a standard is not impermissibly

vague simply because it is broad in nature.”  J.A. Jones supra at 2205.  The Commission further

stated that “a broad regulation must be interrupted in the light of the conduct to which it is being

applied, and external, objective criteria, including the knowledge and perceptions of a reasonable

person may be used to give meaning to such a regulation in a particular situation.”  Id.  In Secretary

of Labor v. R&R Builders Inc., 15 BNA OSHC 1383 (1991), the Commission stated that a standard

is not vague and unenforceable “if ‘a reasonable person,’ examining the generalized standard in light

of a particular set of circumstances, can determine what is required, or if the particular employer was

actually aware of the existence of a hazard and of a means by which to abate it.”  Id. at 1387.

Without any reference to the particular merits of this case or the specific operation of any

of the machines cited by Complainant, Respondent broadly asserts that the lockout standard is

unenforceable because the term “unexpected energization” (see footnote 4) is not defined.  This

precise issue was considered by the Review Commission in Secretary of Labor v. General Motors

Corporation, Delco Chassis Division, 17 BNA OSHC 1217 (1995).  The Commission concluded

that “by its plain meaning, the standard applies only to those machines and pieces of equipment for

which energization or start up would be unexpected by employees.”  The Commission reasoned that

“the standard clearly and unambiguously applies only where the Secretary shows that unexpected

energization, start up or release of stored energy could occur and cause injury.  Under these

circumstances, we find it unnecessary to look outside the standard itself for guidance as to its

meaning.”  Id at 1219.  The Court of Appeals for the Sixth Circuit affirmed the Commission and

stated:

We conclude that the plain language of the lockout standard
unambiguously renders the rule inapplicable where an employee is
alerted or warned that the machine being serviced is about to activate.
In such a situation, “energization” of the machine cannot be said to
be “unexpected” since the employee knows in advance that machine
startup is imminent and can safely evacuate the area.  The standard
is meant to apply where a service employee is endangered by a
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machine that can start up without the employee’s foreknowledge.  In
the context of the regulation, use of the word “unexpected” connotes
an element of surprise, and there can be no surprise when a machine
is designed and constructed so that it cannot start up without giving
a servicing employee notice of what is about to happen.

Secretary of Labor v. General Motors Corporation, Delco Chassis Division, 17 BNA OSHC 1673

(1996).

Thus, contrary to Respondent’s assertion, the term “unexpected energization” is not so vague

as to render the standard unenforceable.  However, whether the standard has been violated because

an employee is exposed to “unexpected energization” is dependent upon the facts surrounding the

alleged servicing and/or maintenance performed for each type of machine cited and whether an

employee is exposed to injury without warning if said machine is activated.  Faultless Div. v.

Secretary of Labor, 674 F.2d 1177, 1185 (7th Cir. 1982).  Moreover, the interpretation placed upon

that language in light of the factual setting must be “consistent with the regulatory language and...the

intent of the regulation.”  Georgia Pacific Corp. v. OSHRC, 25 F.3rd 999, 1004, (11th Cir. 1994).

See also Martin v. OSHRC, 499 U.S. 144 (1991).  These rules of construction have been applied in

the analysis of each individual citation discussed infra.

Respondent also focuses upon the note accompanying the standard set forth at C.F.R. §

1910.147(a)(2)(ii)(B) (see footnote 5) as containing language which renders the entire LOTO

standard unenforceably vague.  Specifically, Respondent points to the phrases “minor servicing

activities” and “effective” alternative protection for employees engaged in minor servicing activities

as being so unclear and ambiguous that those terms require “men of common intelligence to guess

at its meaning.”  Secretary of Labor v. Culbersen Well Service, Inc., 12 BNA OSHC 1535, 1536

(1985).  See also Connolly v. General Construction Company, 26 U.S. 383, 391 (1926).  Respondent

makes this global assertion without any reference to the particular allegations contained in the

complaint or the specific work activities performed by Respondent’s employees.

In Secretary of Labor v. Westvaco Corp., 16 BNA OSHC 1374 (1993), the Review

Commission faced a similar attack upon the language of the note referenced by Respondent in this

case.  In Westvaco, Respondent had been cited for a violation of C.F.R. § 1910.147(c)(1) by failing

to lockout the slitter section of a printer/slitter machine.  The machine, during normal operation,

printed and scored corrugated paperboard.  An employee was required to make adjustments between
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“runs” in the slitter section.  The Secretary alleged that the employee was exposed to unexpected

energization during that work activity.  Respondent Westvaco claimed that the work activity fell

within the exception which Respondent complains of in this case.  The Commission stated that the

burden to establish the exception falls upon Respondent.  Moreover, based upon the facts of that

case, the work activity performed by the employee was preparatory to normal production and

constituted “set up.”  Thus, the activity was not performed during normal production operations and,

therefore, fell outside the exception to the standard.  Id. at 1379.

It is clear that in Westvaco the Commission analyzed the exception “in light of a particular

set of circumstances,” as well as the conduct to which the exception is applied.  R&R Builders Inc.

supra.  See J.A. Jones supra.  Respondent, however, boldly asserts that the LOTO standard is

unenforceably vague for all times and circumstances without any reference to the particular facts

of this case.  Under these circumstances, Respondent has failed to meet its burden (a) to establish

that the referenced exception applies to the particular work activities cited by the Secretary or (b)

to establish that the language of the exception was so unclear when applied to those work activities

that persons of common intelligence could not understand the meaning and intent of the exception.

For these reasons, Respondent’s argument that the standard is unenforceably vague must be rejected.

THE VIOLATIONS

Item 1 TAMS

Item 1 of the Citation reads as follows:

29 C.F.R. § 1910.147(c)(4)(i): Procedures were not
developed, documented and utilized for the control of potentially
hazardous energy when employees were engaged in activities
covered by this section: At the plant[,] a documented procedure to
control potential hazardous energy for each type of machine was not
being used by employees setting up tire assembly machines. 

 

This alleged violation relates to the activities of employees engaged in the operation of

machines known as tire  assembly machines (TAMS).  During the period of inspection,

Respondent’s work place contained first stage and second stage TAM’S.  The first stage TAMS are

known as 88 and the second stage TAMS are designated as 85, 99 and, in one instance M-6.  The

first stage machines produce the body ply assembly consisting of an inner liner, beads and side wall.

The second stage TAMS build upon the body ply assembly produced by the first stage TAMS.
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Respondent’s work place contained eighteen (18) 85 TAMS, thirty-nine (39) 99 TAMS and one M-6

at the time of Complaint’s inspection, a total of 58 second stage TAMS.  A “green tire” is produced

at the completion of the work performed by the second stage TAMS.  All of the alleged violations

relating to this item result from the operation of the second stage TAMS.

Second stage TAMS attach the tire tread to the body ply assembly produced by the first stage

TAMS.  The machine operator operates the machine by using foot pedals placed at the front bottom

of the machine.  The machine operator places the body ply assembly produced by the first stage

TAMS on two circular metal disks known as pie pans.  Air is introduced into the machine spreading

the pie pans apart and expanding the body ply assembly (“the carcass”).  The operator then places

the tire tread upon a circular drum known as the band builder.  In the 99 TAM, a transfer carriage

moves in a straight line over the band builder, removes the tread package, moves along a rail

approximately three feet to the pie pans at which time the tread package is placed on the carcass.

The machine seals the tire components together by squeezing out the air between the component

parts to ensure that the parts adhere.  The pie pans and the band builder are connected by a drum

shaft which spins during normal operation and weighs in excess of 100 pounds.  In the 85 TAM, the

band builder moves on a swing arm to the transfer carriage and deposits the tread package on the

transfer carriage.  The transfer carriage then moves to the pie pans where the tread is placed on the

carcass.  One machine known as Mike-6 is a modified 85 TAM and is a one of a kind machine.  The

machine was modified by Respondent from a swing arm 85 to an in-line TAM.

The second stage TAM machines are used to produce 13, 14 and 15 inch passenger and light

truck tires.  In order to prepare the machines to produce a different size tire, employees known as

TAM size changers must perform either a partial or full size change.  Size changers do not operate

the machine during normal production.  This work activity varies from a simple change of

specifications in the machine’s computer to removing and replacing the bandbuilder, pie pans, the

hub, grab segments of the transfer carriage, and other adjustments to the machine.  Typically, a size

changer will perform four or five full changes in an eight hour shift.  It is during the performance

of these activities that the Secretary alleges Respondent violated the LOTO standard.

The 99 and 85 TAMS are energized by electrical, pneumatic and hydraulic energy sources

and the Mike 6 has electric and pneumatic energy.  In order to change or adjust the bandbuilder, pie

pans and component parts of the transfer carriage, the employee places the machine in the “manual
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mode.”  Each machine has a control panel which controls the movement of the machine in addition

to the foot pedals.  The M-6 machine has two control panels and a bandbuilder panel on the front

of the machine.  The machines are energized when placed in the manual mode and the transfer

carriage for the 99 and 85 machines may be moved by depressing buttons on the control panels.

Other machine parts including the pie pans may also be energized via the foot pedals or the

applicable control panel while the machines are in the manual mode.  The employee is required to

place his/her arms, hands and upper body in the path of the transfer carriage (between the pie pans

and the bandbuilder) while engaged in removing and attaching machine parts during a size change

operation.  The Secretary asserts that the employees are exposed to being crushed between the

transfer carriage and non moving parts of the machine while engaged in a size change if the machine

is unexpectedly energized.  Moreover, parts of the transfer carriage known as “grabs” could open

or close if the machine is unexpectedly energized resulting in hand injury to the employee.  The

employee would also be exposed to injury to arms, hands and upper body if struck by the swing arm

of the TAM 85. The moving parts of the machines move instantaneously upon being energized

leaving the employee little or no time to leave the zone of danger. 

Respondent has no written procedure which employees are required to follow when

performing a size change.  Size changers are trained by fellow workers when first assigned as a size

changer and each person develops his/her own system for performing the task.  The machines,

however, are basically identical; that is, all 99's are the same configuration as are all 85's.  As

previously noted the M-6 is unique.  Thus, the work activity is performed in a similar fashion by all

employees with slight variations among the size changers.  Each machine is equipped with an

emergency stop button located on the control panel and a safety line is strung along the length of

each machine.  The electrical power to each machine may be disconnected either by hitting the

emergency stop button or by pulling the safety rope.  Neither the stop button nor the safety rope are

activated by employees to disconnect the electrical source during a size change.  Employees are not

required by Respondent to lockout machines while performing size changes.

Sufficient evidence has been presented by the Secretary to support the conclusion that

Respondent’s employees were exposed to serious injury or death while performing size changes on

the 99, 85 and M-6 tire assembly machines.  Specifically, with respect to the TAM 99, employees

were exposed to serious injury when placing parts of their bodies in the path of the transfer carriage
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Respondent’s investigation of the accident  concluded that the employee accidentally tripped a limit switch

which activated the machine.
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while changing or adjusting machine parts.  Moreover, employees were exposed to serious injury

when working in close proximity to the grab segments.  Since employees could be injured by the

transfer carriage or the grab segments if the machines become unexpectedly energized, procedures

should have been developed and utilized to prevent such energization as required by the standard.

The TAM 85's also present the same hazards to employees; that is, employees were exposed to the

swing arm of the bandbuilder and the grab segments.  Employees performing size changes on the

M-6 were exposed to similar hazards relating to the grab segments and movement of the

bandbuilder.

The hazards presented by the M-6 machine have been tragically demonstrated by the death

of an employee who was performing a size change on that machine.  The machine became energized

moving the transfer carriage and fatally injuring the employee.6  See Item 107 Discussion infra.

Moreover, other size changers testified that they experienced unexpected movement of the machines

while performing size changes.  Some of the movement was unexplained while other movements

were accidental by inadvertently activating the machines via the foot pedals.  In addition, many size

changes were completed by two employees working together.  This arrangement often increased the

risk of inadvertent activation of the machines.

In order to establish that Respondent failed to comply with the cited standard, the Secretary

must prove that (1) the standard applies; (2) the employer failed to comply with the terms of the

standard; (3) employees had access to the cited condition; (4) the Respondent knew, or with the

exercise of reasonable diligence, could have known of the violative condition.  Astra

Pharmaceutical Products, Inc., 1981 CCH OSHC ¶ 25,578, aff’d 681 F.2d 69 (1st Cir. 1982);

Secretary of Labor v. Gary Concrete Products, 15 BNA OSHC 1051, 1052, 1991-93 CCH OSHD

¶ 29, 344 (1991).  Although Respondent disputes the applicability of the standard on the ground that

the employees are not engaged in “servicing or maintenance” while engaged in a size change, the

activities of the employees clearly fall within the definition of those terms as set forth at section



7
Servicing and maintenance is defined as:

Workplace activities such as constructing, installing, setting up, adjusting,

inspecting, modifying, and maintaining and/or servicing machines or equipment.

These activities include lubrication, cleaning or unjamming of machines or

equipment and making adjustments or tool changes, where the employee may be

exposed to the unexpected energization or startup of the equipment or release of

hazardous energy.

Setting up is defined as:

Any work performed to prepare a machine or equipment to perform its normal

production operation.
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147(b) of the standard.7  The facts clearly establish that employees are exposed to unexpected

energization of the machine while performing set up operations.  Moreover, the facts support the

conclusion that the activities of the size changers as described above do not fall within the exception

to the standard for minor servicing performed during normal operations for the simple reason that

the second stage TAM machines are not engaged in producing anything while undergoing a size

change.  See footnote 4.

The record established that Respondent failed to institute the lockout procedures required

by the standard during the size change when employee were exposed to the movement of the transfer

carriage and the grab segments.  The evidence supports the conclusion that employees were exposed

to serious injury or death from the transfer carriage and the grab segments and the employer knew

or with the exercise of reasonable diligence could have known of the violation.  For the foregoing

reasons, it is concluded that Complainant has sustained his burden of proof and the violation is

affirmed.

WILLFULNESS

The Secretary alleges that this violation, as well as every other alleged violation disclosed

during the inspection of Respondent’s worksite, was committed in a “willful” manner within the

meaning of section 17(a) of the Act.  Although not defined in the Act, “willful” has been defined

by the Courts as “conscious and intentional disregard of the conditions,” “deliberate and intentional

misconduct,” “utter disregard of consequences” and other similar descriptions.  See Brock v. Morello

Brothers Construction, Inc., 809 F.2d 161 (1st Cir. 1987).  In order to establish a willful violation,

it is necessary to determine the “state of mind” of the employer at the time of the violations.  The

standard of proof requires that the Secretary produce evidence establishing that the Respondent

displayed an intentional disregard for the requirements of law and made a conscious, intentional,
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deliberate and voluntary decision to violate the law or was plainly indifferent to the requirements

of the statute.  A. Schenbek and Company v. Donovan, 646 F.2d 799, 800 (2nd Cir. 1981); Morello

Brothers Construction supra at 164; Georgia Electric Co. v. Marshall, 595 F.2d 309, (5th Cir.

1979).  Willful violations are distinguished by a “heightened awareness of illegality - of the conduct

or conditions - and by a state of mind-conscious disregard or plain indifference.”  Williams

Enterprises, Inc., 13 BNA OSHC 1249, 1986-87 CCH OSHD ¶ 27,893.  The Tenth Circuit has

determined that an employer’s failure to comply with a safety standard under the Act is “willful”

if done knowingly and purposely by an employer who having a free will or choice, either

intentionally disregards the standard or is plainly indifferent to the requirements.  United States v.

Dye Construction Co., 510 F.2d 78, 81 (10th Cir. 1975).

Complainant’s burden to establish a willful violation has been defined by the Commission

as follows:

To establish that a violation was willful, the Secretary bears the
burden of proving that the violation was committed with either an
intentional disregard for the requirements of the Act or with plain
indifference to employee safety.   Williams Enterp., 13 BNA OSHC
1249, 1256-57, 1986-87 CCH OSHD ¶ 27,893, p. 36,589 (No. 85-
355, 1987).  There must be evidence that an employer knew of an
applicable standard or provision prohibiting the conduct or condition
and consciously disregarded the standard.  Hern Iron Works, Inc., 16
BNA OSHC 1206, 1215, 1993 CCH OSHD ¶ 30,046, p. 41,256 (No.
89-433, 1993).  A violation is not willful if the employer had a good
faith belief that it was not in violation.  The test of good faith for
these purposes is an objective one - whether the employer’s belief
concerning a factual matter, or concerning the interpretation of a rule
was reasonable under the circumstances.  General Motors Electro-
Motive Div., 14 BNA OSHC 2064, 2068, 1991-93 CCH OSHD ¶
29,240, p. 39, 168 (No. 82-630, 1991).  

Secretary of Labor v. S.G. Loewendich and Sons, 16 BNA OSHC 1954, 1958 (1994).

Although an employer’s good faith belief that alternative protective measures are superior

to the requirements of a safety standard will not relieve that employer of a finding of a willful

violation,  Secretary of Labor v. Trinity Industries, Inc., 16 BNA OSHC 1670, 1673, (11th Cir.

1994), the Review Commission has held that “[a] willful charge is not justified if an employer has

made a good faith effort to comply with a standard or to eliminate a hazard even though the
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employer’s efforts are not entirely effective or complete” (citations omitted), Secretary of Labor v.

Keco Industries, Inc., 13 BNA OSHC 1161, 1169 (1987).  In other words, an employer who

knowingly and in good faith substitutes its own safety measures to provide employee protection in

place of the requirements of a standard may be found in willful violation of the standard; however,

an employer who seeks, in good faith, to comply with the standard and fails may not be found to

have willfully violated the act.

The failure to comply with the lockout standard during the set up of the TAM machines, as

well as every other violation alleged by the Secretary, has been characterized as a willful violation;

that is, the Respondent consciously disregarded or was plainly indifferent to the requirements of the

lockout standard as it may apply to all of the production activities at the Oklahoma City plant.  Mr.

Barrien Zettler, the Deputy Director of the Directorate of Compliance Programs, testified that he was

responsible for reviewing the file developed in this matter by the Department of Labor and

authorized the issuance of the citation by the Area Director, William White.  Mr. Zettler is a high

ranking official within the national office of the Occupational Safety and Health Administration with

responsibility for the review and issuance of citations listing violations on an instance by instance

basis.  (See Tr. 5334 et seq.)  In this case, Mr. Zettler was briefed by his staff prior to issuance of

the citation and concluded that all of the alleged violations uncovered during the inspection of

Respondent’s worksite should be characterized as willful with a maximum penalty of $70,000 per

violation.  Mr. Zettler did not, however, analyze each individual violation to determine whether

sufficient facts exist to support each willful finding.  Rather, Mr. Zettler “grouped them all together”

and concluded that the facts support a finding that Respondent was in flagrant violation of the

lockout standard throughout the Oklahoma City plant as a matter of policy.  (Tr. 5357-59, 5450)

The Secretary’s conclusion that Respondent either intentionally disregarded or was plainly

indifferent to the requirements of the LOTO standard as a matter of corporate policy throughout the

Oklahoma City facility is based upon the following factors.  First, Respondent’s Oklahoma City site

had corporate knowledge of the existence and requirements of the standard.  The standard was

promulgated as a final rule on August 31, 1989 with an effective date of October 31, 1989.  By

memo dated September 15, 1989, Mr. John Lepkowski, Respondent’s Corporate Safety Director,

informed all of Respondent’s manufacturing facilities, including the Oklahoma City site, of the

existence of the new standard and attached a copy of the standard and its preamble to his memo.
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"Affected employee” is defined as:

An employee whose job requires him/her to operate or use a machine or equipment

on which serv icing or maintenance is being performed under lockout or tagout, or

whose job requires him/her to work in an area in which such servicing or

maintenance is being performed.  (29 C.F.R. § 1910.147(b))

9
"Authorized employee” is defined as:

(continued...)
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By memo dated November 8, 1990 from R.M. Schall, corporate headquarters requested all

manufacturing facilities, including Oklahoma City, to review manufacturing equipment for lockout

capabilities.  Complainant asserts that a memo dated December 7, 1992 from Robert Walker,

Corporate Manager of Safety, Health and Industrial Hygiene to all plants including Oklahoma City

is particularly significant.  In that memo Mr. Walker states with regard to the LOTO standard:

Please revisit your plant’s practice regarding this very important,
fundamental safety procedure.  Remember, this standard has been in
effect for over two years, so you will have little defense for
noncompliance in the event of an OSHA citation, and OSHA is
aggressively enforcing this standard.  (Exh. C-91)

Complainant also points to a Corporate Safety Manager’s conference which was held on June 14,

1993.  The Safety Manager for the Oklahoma City location, Ms. Kelley Mattocks, was at the

conference and attended a presentation by Corporate Safety Manager Walker wherein the LOTO

standard was discussed (Tr. 4924, Exh. C-94).

Second, Complainant relies upon a visit to the Oklahoma City plant during August 1992 by

John Lepkowski to support the willful finding.  Mr. Lepkowski, at the time, had retired as Corporate

Safety Director and was engaged by Respondent as a safety consultant to provide LOTO  training

to its production employees at the so called “affected level.”8 Mr. Lepkowski spent approximately

one week at the Oklahoma City plant.  As a result of information obtained during a training session,

the union representative, Mr. Tony Carr, expressed concern to Mr. Lepkowski regarding certain

machine operations and whether the activities were subject to LOTO requirements.  Mr. Lepkowski

and Ms. Mattocks accompanied Mr. Carr to the production floor and observed the machines.

According to Mr. Carr, Mr. Lepkowski recommended to Ms. Mattocks that the job functions should

be reviewed to determine whether the employees engaged in those activities should be trained at the

“authorized level.”9  (Tr. 4535)



9(...continued)
A Person who locks out or tags out machines or equipment in order to perform

servicing or maintenance on that machine or equipment.  An affected employee

becomes an authorized employee when that employee’s duties include performing

servicing or maintenance covered under this section.  (29 C.F.R. § 1910.147(b))
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Third, Complainant points to a safety citation issued to Respondent’s Des Moines, Iowa

plant by the State of Iowa Occupational Safety and Health Department as support for a willful

finding.  By memo dated March 1, 1993, Respondent’s Vice President of Human Resources

forwarded a copy of the citation to all manufacturing plants including Oklahoma City with a cover

memorandum.

Moreover, Respondent received other warnings from OSHA compliance officers.  During

June 1993, compliance officer Faye Kearney, an industrial hygienist, initiated an inspection of

Respondent’s worksite for so called ergonomic violations.  Ms. Kearney conducted “walk arounds”

of the facility accompanied by Respondent’s Safety Director Mattocks and observed employees

placing parts of their bodies “in the point of operation” of various machines.  (Tr. 4633-34)  Ms.

Kearney pointed  these occurrences out to Ms. Mattocks and expressed her opinion that employees

were exposed to injury if the machines were to be unexpectedly energized.  Ms. Kearney discussed

the LOTO issues with Ms. Mattocks on at least three separate occasions.  (Tr. 4965, 5007)

Complainant also relies upon statements made to Ms. Mattocks by the safety compliance officer,

George McCown, who conducted a safety inspection of Respondent’s plant commencing November

16, 1993.  His inspection forms the basis for the citation issued in this matter.

Fourth, Complainant points to the reaction of Respondent to a fatal injury sustained by one

of its employees as support for willfulness.  Mr. Robert Julian sustained fatal injuries while

performing a size change on a second stage tire assembly machine on October 19, 1993.  Respondent

declined to institute LOTO procedures, according to Complainant, “even in the face of Mr. Julian’s

death and the resulting OSHA inspection by George McCown.” (Complainant’s Brief at pg. 95)

Fifth, Complainant asserts that the job evaluations created by Respondent for the TAM size

changer and the mold/bladder changer establish that “these jobs constitute primarily setup

operations” and therefore, fall within the LOTO standard requirements.  (Complainant’s Brief at pg.

96)  Lastly, Complainant argues that injuries and “near-misses” experienced by Respondent’s
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employees should have alerted Respondent to hazards presented by various machines and the need

for implementation of LOTO procedures for those machines.

Respondent, on the other hand, argues that the evidence supports the conclusion that it

attempted in good faith to comply with the provisions of the LOTO standard and that good faith

negates the Secretary’s allegations even if they fell short of full compliance.  (Respondent’s Brief

at pg. 30 citing Secretary of Labor v. Morrison-Knudsen Co./Yonkers Contracting, 16 BNA OSHC

1105, 1124 (1993))  Respondent relies heavily upon the fact that as early as 1969, when the

Oklahoma City plant commenced operations, a distinction was made between production work and

service and maintenance work performed upon the large number of machines in the plant.  At that

time Respondent entered into a contract with an outside contractor, Ogden Allied, to perform all of

the servicing and maintenance functions on the machines.  Ogden maintained a permanent work

force of approximately 190 employees at Respondent’s plant and was paid approximately one

million dollars a month by Respondent to service and maintain the machines.  This work activity

included preventative and breakdown service and maintenance.  Thus, Respondent argues that as

early as 1969 and continuing until the time of the inspection which initiated this litigation, there was

a dichotomy of work functions performed on the manufacturing machines: major servicing and

maintenance performed by Ogden Allied and production activities including minor servicing and

maintenance performed by Respondent’s employees.  Moreover, Respondent ensured that Ogden

Allied complied with LOTO procedures when servicing or maintaining the machines.  According

to Respondent, this relationship with Ogden Allied “is central to the facts of this matter and

Dayton’s state of mind.” (Respondent’s Brief at pg. 37)  Respondent also points to the fact that after

a complete inspection of Respondent’s worksite, Complainant alleges LOTO violations for only

seven discrete job functions of the hundreds of machine operations performed by Respondent’s

employees. 

   With respect to the grounds relied upon by the Secretary to support a plant wide intentional

disregard or plain indifference to the LOTO standard, Respondent freely acknowledges that it had

corporate and plant knowledge of the LOTO standard.  “Dayton has argued over and over again that

it was at all relevant times knowledgeable of the standard.” (Respondent Reply Brief at pg. 7)

Respondent agrees that it received the memoranda from Messrs. Lepkowski, Schall and Walker

supra.  The Lepkowski memo was received shortly after the LOTO standard was promulgated.  Mr.
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Phil McCowan, Respondent’s Safety Manager reviewed the memo and conducted an analysis of the

machinery within the plant for LOTO compliance.  Mr. McCowan was the author of the safe

operating procedures for each classification of machine in the plant and had significant experience

in the operation of those machines.  Mr. McCowan concluded, based upon his reading of the new

standard, that Respondent’s employees were engaged in production activities and that Ogden Allied

personnel were engaged in service and maintenance within the meaning of the standard.  McCowan

contacted Ogden Allied to ensure that they complied with the standard when performing servicing

and maintenance activities as required.  Mr. McCowan did not perform a formal analysis of each

machine; rather, he relied primarily upon his experience and discussions with Mr. Lepkowski to

arrive at the conclusion that none of the activities which are the subject of this litigation required that

the machines be lockout.  (Tr. 4411- 37, 4454, 4458)  The Schall memo, supra, was received by Mr.

McCowan after he had completed his review of the machines in relation to the LOTO standard.  This

memo requested a review of equipment to determine which machinery “cannot be physically locked

out.”  (Exh. C-85)  Mr. McCowan testified that Ogden Allied locked out all machines as required

to perform servicing or maintenance.  Ms. Kelley Mattocks, Respondent’s Safety Manager during

December 1992, received and reviewed the Walker memo supra.  Ms. Mattocks had succeeded Mr.

McCowan and, upon receipt of the Walker memo, she contacted the supervisors of the production

departments to determine whether any of the production activities performed by the Dayton Tire

machine operators had changed.  She made this inquiry because she knew that a distinction had been

made at the time the plant had opened between service and maintenance activities and production

work and that division of labor had been confirmed by her predecessor, Phil McCowan, during 1989.

(Tr. 4939, 4994)  She also knew that service and maintenance work was to be performed by the

outside contractor, Ogden Allied, and production work was performed by Respondent’s employees.

It was her belief, upon being notified by the production supervisors that no change had been made

in the work activities of machine operators, that the company remained in compliance with the

LOTO standard.  (Tr. 4939, 4970)  Moreover, Ms. Mattocks knew that the Oklahoma City plant was

in a “unique situation”; that is, most of the other manufacturing plants within the company

performed their own servicing and maintenance activities and the Oklahoma site contracted these

activities out to Ogden Allied.  (Tr. 4945)  Ms. Mattocks also participated in the hiring of Mr.

Lepkowski as a consultant to train Respondent’s production employees at the so called “affected”
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level.  See footnote 8.  In addition, Ms. Mattocks required Ogden Allied to conduct periodic

inspections as required by the standard (1910.147(c)(6)(i) and (ii)) to ensure that they (Ogden

Allied) complied with the LOTO standard.  (Tr. 4961-62)

Respondent also disputes the Secretary’s argument that the events surrounding the visit of

John Lepkowski to Respondent’s worksite during August 1992 supports the willful allegations.

According to the union representative, Tony Carr, he accompanied Kelley Mattocks and John

Lepkowski onto the production floor and observed the TAMS, the curing presses and the module

machines.  According to Mr. Carr, Mr. Lepkowski stated that these operations should be considered

for training at the authorized level.  (Tr. 4533-35)  Ms. Mattocks, on the other hand, acknowledged

that she accompanied Messrs. Carr and Lepkowski onto the production floor; however, they did not

view a size change on the TAM nor a mold change on the curing press or a stone change on the

module machine.  (Tr. 4997-98)  It is alleged by the Secretary that these activities in part, exposed

employees to injury or death.  Respondent argues that Carr’s testimony, in his capacity as the

employee representative, is hearsay10 and should not be given any weight.  Moreover, Mr.

Lepkowski was listed as a government witness but was not called to testify.  According to

Respondent, Lepkowski’s statements were “equivocating and merely suggestive,” and not notice

of noncompliance with the LOTO standard.

With respect to the citation issued to Respondent’s Des Moines, Iowa plant by the State of

Iowa and distributed to Respondent’s Oklahoma plant, Respondent asserts that the Secretary failed

to establish any similarity between the operations at the Iowa plant and the Oklahoma City location.

Indeed, in Respondent’s view, the face of the citation itself removes any probative value of the

document by stating “the issuance of this citation does not constitute a finding that a violation of the

Act has occurred....”  (Exh. C-92)  The Secretary also failed to present any evidence as to the

disposition of the Iowa citation and, Respondent argues, the citation should not be used as notice that

violations were present at the Oklahoma City plant.  Respondent also argues that the concern

expressed by Industrial Hygienist Faye Kearney and Ms. Mattocks’ reaction to those concerns are

consistent with Respondent’s good faith effort to comply with the LOTO standard.  Ms. Mattocks

believed in good faith that all servicing and maintenance activities requiring LOTO procedures were
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performed by employees of Ogden Allied.  Moreover, Ms. Kearney had not concluded that the

activities that she observed violated the LOTO standard and she referred the matter to a safety

specialist in her office.  (Tr. 4651, 4653)  Indeed, the Area Director, Mr. White did not place any

reliance upon Ms. Kearney’s observations because he was not “comfortable” with her level of

expertise in the recognization of safety hazards.  (Tr. 4731-32) Ms. Mattocks also testified that  Ms.

Kearney did not tell her that employees working in the tubing department, the beadwinding

department, the set up department (TAMS ), the banbury department or the curing department were

exposed to hazards or were working in a zone of danger with respect to those areas with the

exception that employees could slip and fall on oil accumulated on the “top hat” of the curing press.

(Tr. 5002-05)   In addition, the other “warning” received by Respondent was conveyed by

compliance officer George McCown whose investigation formed the basis for the citation.

Respondent clearly disagrees with Mr. McCown.  Moreover, Mr. McCown did not testify at the trial

in this matter; thus, there is no direct evidence of the statements made by Mr. McCown, if any, to

Respondent’s representatives.11  

Respondent also disagrees that its reaction to the death of employee Robert Julian supports

a willful finding in this case.  Respondent points to the fact that an investigation was immediately

conducted by Respondent to determine the cause and necessary corrective action.  As a result of its

investigation, Respondent reprogrammed the machine’s computer and instituted pinning devices

which prevent machine parts from moving during size changes.  (Tr. 4497-4500, 4976-78, 5743-46,

5761-64; Exh. C-17)

With respect to the written job descriptions (Exhs. C-9, 14, 15,16), Respondent argues that

the job tasks that Complainant describes as “clearly” falling within the definition of servicing or

maintenance are on the face of those job descriptions, just as easily characterized as minor servicing

within the meaning of the standard and, therefore, fall within the exception to the standard.

Moreover, with respect to the so called “near misses” and injuries cited by Complainant in support

of the claim that Respondent had knowledge of the hazards to which its employees were exposed,
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Respondent asserts that none of the instances listed by Complainant support the conclusion that

noncompliance with the LOTO standard caused the injuries or near misses.

Based upon the foregoing, it cannot be concluded that Respondent intentionally disregarded

or was plainly indifferent to the standard as a matter of corporate policy throughout the Oklahoma

City location.  Complainant ignores the fact that since 1969 Respondent had assigned the service

and maintenance function to Ogden Allied which maintained approximately 190 permanent

employees on site at the plant.  According to Ms. Mattocks, service and maintenance was and is

performed by Respondent’s employees at other manufacturing plants within the corporate family.

(Tr. 4948)  It is undisputed that Respondent had corporate knowledge of the LOTO standard.  It

cannot be said, however, that the facts support the conclusion that it was Respondent’s state of mind

to disregard the standard nor was it plainly indifferent to its requirements throughout the Oklahoma

City site.  The various memoranda from corporate headquarters to all of the production locations as

well as the actions of Mr. McCowan and Ms. Mattocks, in light of the memoranda, indicate an effort

was made to comply with the standard on a plant wide basis.  The management team at the

Oklahoma City location relied, in large measure, upon the division of labor between Ogden Allied

and Respondent’s production employees and all of Respondent’s production employees were trained

at the affected level.  The evaluation of that division by Mr. McCowan in relation to the new LOTO

standard was not, in retrospect, sufficiently thorough to disclose activities performed by

Respondent’s employees which required LOTO procedures; however, the Secretary, after a complete

investigation of Respondent’s worksite, discovered only seven discrete work activities which, he

believes, necessitates LOTO procedures.  Those findings, in a 72 acre manufacturing facility

containing hundreds of different types of machines, do not support a conclusion that, as a matter of

corporate policy, Respondent had the state of mind to intentionally disregard or be plainly

indifferent to the requirements of the LOTO standard on a plant wide basis.

This is not to say, however, that the Secretary has failed to establish willful conduct on the

part of the Respondent with respect to individual violations cited by the Secretary.  Although the

Secretary has failed to establish a intentional disregard or plain indifference and a state of mind to

violate the LOTO standard plant wide as a matter of policy, the facts supporting each alleged

violation must be analyzed, assuming that a violation has been established, to determine whether a

sufficient basis exists to conclude that the Secretary was correct in characterizing each violation as
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willful.  I turn now to an analysis of the facts surrounding Respondent’s violation of the standard

with regard to the TAM machines to determine whether Respondent’s violation of the standard, as

found above, is willful.

As previously stated, a willful violation is characterized by a heightened awareness of

conduct or conditions which present hazards to employees and by a state of mind consistent with

an intentional disregard or plain indifference to the violative conduct or conditions.  Williams

Enterprises, Inc. supra.  Because Respondent was in a unique corporate situation by contracting the

service and maintenance functions out to another contractor, it is reasonable to conclude, as is

strongly argued by Respondent, that its actions were consistent with a good faith belief and effort

to comply with the LOTO standard throughout the Oklahoma City plant.  The issue, however, is

whether Respondent had notice of possible violations of the LOTO standard within its Oklahoma

City plant relating to specific machines or activities.  In other words, did Respondent possess

information which created or should have created a heightened awareness of hazardous conditions

relating to specific machines or work activities within the plant.  That information was transmitted

to Respondent via a memorandum dated March 1, 1993 from C.R. Ramsey, Vice President of

Human Resources to all company presidents including the manager of the Oklahoma City location.

(Exh. C-93)  Attached to the memorandum was a copy of a citation issued to Respondent’s Des

Moines, Iowa manufacturing plant wherein, inter alia, various violations of the LOTO standard were

alleged with respect to specific machines.  (Exh. C-92)  It is remarkable that these significant

documents were offered and entered into evidence without any testimony being elicited by either

party regarding the actions of Respondent, if any, upon receipt of the documents.

The Ramsey memo expressed concern regarding the number of violations and the size of the

penalty assessed as a result of the Des Moines safety inspection conducted by the State of Iowa.

Included in the memo is the following language:

I ask that you share this information with your plant managers and
have them review all of the specific violations (attached) and
implement countermeasures to correct similar deficiencies; and
establish methods to maintain compliance in the future.  Under
OSHA law, should you have similar violations as Des Moines, you
could be subject to a repeat citation which carries a penalty of up to
$70,000 per violation.
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The citation attached to this memo lists violations of the LOTO standard relating to machines and

production activities with the same identity as machines and production activities located at

Respondent’s Oklahoma City facility.12  Moreover, one of the alleged violations should have alerted

the management team at the Oklahoma City location that service and maintenance functions were

also performed by an outside contractor at the Des Moines plant, if they were not already aware of

that fact.  The alleged violation stated that “outside contractors on site had not signed an agreement

to assure an exchange of LOTO programs with the employees.”  (Exh. C-92, Item 24 alleging a

violation of § 1910.147(f)(2)(i))  Thus, the same division of job functions between service and

maintenance and  production work existed at the Des Moines and Oklahoma City locations and

should have; indeed, must have, heighten the awareness of Respondent’s management personnel at

the Oklahoma City plant that the violations cited at the Des Moines location were likely to exist at

their location.  There is nothing in the record indicating that Respondent took any action after

receiving the Ramsey memo to determine whether the conditions described in the Des Moines

citation were present at the Oklahoma City plant.  That failure to act, notwithstanding a heightened

awareness of possible LOTO violations at the plant, strongly supports the conclusion that

Respondent was, at the least, plainly indifferent to the requirements of the LOTO standard for the

activities and machines listed in the citation.  See United States v. Dye Construction Co. supra;

Georgia Electric Company supra; Williams Enterprises, Inc. supra.  Moreover, Respondent’s failure

to act in response to the Des Moines citation undermines its good faith defense regarding conditions

in its Oklahoma City plant which were similar to the violations uncovered at the Des Moines

location.  See Secretary of Labor v. Mel Jarvis Construction Co. Inc., 10 BNA 1052 (1981);

Secretary of Labor v. Morreson-Krudsen Co./Yonkers Contracting Co., A Joint Venture, 16 BNA

1105 (1993).
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For the foregoing reasons, it is necessary to analyze each alleged violation in relation to the

Des Moines citation to determine whether the across the board finding of willful conduct by the

Secretary can be sustained by the facts.  With respect to the tire assembly machines (TAMS), it is

clear that the Des Moines citations cited the failure of that manufacturing facility to institute

hazardous energy control procedures (LOTO) for the tire building machines located within that

plant.   A review of that citation by the Oklahoma City management team should have “heightened”

their awareness of the need to evaluate the work activities of their TAM operators and provide

necessary LOTO procedures.  In light of Respondent’s failure to act responsibly under the

circumstances, item 1 of the citation is affirmed as a willful citation.  The issue of “willfulness” for

each of the remaining violations will be discussed seriatim.  

Item 2 Beadwinder

Item 2 of Citation I reads as follows:

29 C.F.R. § 1910.147(c)(4)(i):  Procedures were not developed, documented
and utilized for the control of potentially hazardous energy when employees were
engaged in activities covered by this section: At the plant[,] a documented procedure
to control potential hazardous energy for each type of machine was not being used
by employees setting up bead winding machine.

This alleged violation relates to the activities of employees engaged in the operation of the

bead winding machine which produces beads (circles) of bronzed steel wire coated with rubber.  The

beads are similar to fan belts and are designed to secure the tire at the rim of the steel wheel.

Specifically, Dayton Tire is cited for a failure to implement LOTO procedures when employees are

changing reels of wire, chucks and ply blocks as well as rethreading broken wires.

Background

During the inspection period of October 19, 1993 through April 18, 1994, there were five

beadwinder machines located at the Respondent’s plant.  Nos. 3, 4 and 5 are conventional winders

which require an operator to remove the finished bead from the machine as well as to change the

wire reels, chucks and ply blocks.  Nos. 1 and 2 are automated machines with a fence and

interlocked gates surrounding the area where large reels of wire are located.  Thus, there is no

evidence that employees are exposed to hazards from the automated beadwinders when changing

reels of wire because Nos. 1 and 2 are de-energized when the gates are opened.  However,

employees are require to change the chuck and ply blocks on Nos. 1 and 2 as they do for the
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conventional beadwinders.  The beadwinder is a large machine, measuring approximately 40' long

x 8' wide x 12' high and operates at high speed.  The beadwinder consists of the wire letoff area,

extruder, slab stock feeder, auger type screw, drive motor, Festoon assembly and the winder head

assembly which consist of the chuck and pulleys. Reels of wire located in the letoff area feed four

or five strands of wire parallel to each other through a number of pulleys.  These wires are coated

with rubber in the extruder head assembly, travel across the precast wheel, through the slitter

assembly and feeder bar, and then as a “bead”, rotates four or five times on a circular disk known

as a chuck.  (Tr. 3571-80; Exhs. 1E, 1F, 1G, 1H, 2C1, 2C2 and 2C3)

The beadwinder is energized by electrical and pneumatic power as well as gravity, and

produces approximately 6,000 to 8,000 beads in a 10 hour day.  During normal operations, the

beadwinder operator is seated to the right of the chuck which is approximately three (3) feet above

the floor, and removes the bead from the chuck after they are formed.  (Tr. 3570)  The temperature

of the beads is approximately 150 degrees as they come off the chuck and the operator usually has

gaze tape around his/her fingers to prevent burning.  (Tr. 3625)  In order to produce different size

beads for different size tires, the beadwinder operator must change the chuck size and the ply blocks.

He also has to increase or decrease the size of the wire depending on the specifications.  The

machine must be stopped to perform these activities.  (Tr. 3646-48)

1.  Reel change

The operator is required to replace the reels of wire in the letoff area when the reel is empty.

Reel changes occur as frequently as 10 times a day.  The operator must also “rethread” the wire

when it breaks.  The wire reels are located in the letoff area which is enclosed by protective gates.

However, unlike the automated beadwinders, the gates on Nos. 3, 4 and 5 are not interlocked and

will not disengage the machine when opened.  Rather, a magnetic sensor switch in the letoff is

designed to shut the beadwinder down automatically when a wire breaks or is defective.  The

machine will also stop if a reel runs out of wire.  There is testimony that occasionally the magnetic

sensor will not function and the beadwinder continues to run notwithstanding a problem with the

wire or the reels.  (Tr. 3594-98)

When a reel change is required, the operator turns the beadwinder switch off and unlocks the

fenced letoff area so that he can raise the clamps and remove the old reel.  The wire reels weigh

between 350 and 1025 lbs.  Once the reel is pulled out, the operator removes the shaft and bearing
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from the old reel and reinserts them in the new reel.  The new reel is rolled onto slicer ramps, loaded

into the staging area and clamped in place.  The operator threads the wire from the reel across groups

of pulleys in a figure eight pattern and through the extruder to the extruder head assembly where the

wires are coated with rubber.  A typical reel change takes about 6 minutes.  (Tr. 3599-3601) The

Secretary asserts that employees are exposed to being struck by the moving parts in the letoff area

and are exposed to nip points between the rolls and the wire resulting in serious injuries if the

machine is unexpectedly energized during a reel change.

In the event that a wire strand breaks during production, the operator turns the beadwinder

switch off, cuts the wire and removes the wire remnants from the system.  The operator rethreads

the wire from the point where it broke through the extruder head assembly where it is coated with

rubber.  (Tr. 3594-3601)  The Secretary asserts that employees are exposed to the hazard of being

jerked or pulled into the other tensioned wires resulting in amputation or lacerations of the fingers

when engaged in rethreading a broken wire.  

2.  Chuck and Ply block change

The chuck change requires the operator to manually jog the chuck to the top center position

by operating the manual control on the winder head control panel above the chuck.  The power on

the control panel is turned off and the two bolts on the chuck are removed.  The old chuck is

removed and a new one is inserted.  The chuck is aligned and the bolts are tightened.  (Tr. 3648-50)

The Secretary asserts that employees are exposed to being struck by the chuck if it unexpectedly

energized when the bolts were removed.  The Secretary also alleges that employees were exposed

to the hazard of having their hands entangled in the chuck if the beadwinder unexpectedly energized

during the chuck change.

The operator follows the same procedure for changing the ply block located in the arm that

rotates the chuck.   First the ply block is jogged into position from the control panel.  The operator

then switches the power off at the control panel and proceeds to the back of the winder head

assembly. The operator cannot see the control panel from this position.  By bending over the ply

block lugs and inserting a T-handle tool to rotate the ply block counterclockwise, the operator

physically forces the ply block out and inserts a new one.  (Tr. 3652-55)  The Secretary alleges that

employees engaged in this activity are exposed to having their arms struck by the rocker assembly

or fingers crushed by the ply block in the event that the machine is unexpectedly energized.
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Beadwinder operators are trained by other employees when they first start operating the

machine.  Dayton Tire has no written LOTO procedures for reel, chuck or ply block changes.

Employees were never trained at the authorized level or required to lockout the beadwinder during

tool changes.  (Tr. 3661-62)  Only Ogden Allied personnel were authorized to lock out the on/off

power switch on the main control panel.  (Tr. 3633-34)  Dayton Tire has equipped the beadwinders

with emergency stop buttons, a kick plate and safety ropes.  Emergency stop buttons are located on

the winder head control panel and the electric control panel for the drive motor.  An emergency

switch is also located on the control panel for the drive motor.  A kick plate to stop the machine is

located at the foot of the chuck.   Safety ropes are strung above the chuck, the catwalks where the

slab stock is feed into the overhead converter, and above the drive motor to the letoff area; however,

the layout of the safety ropes differs from one beadwinder to the other.   An employee hitting a stop

button, kicking the safety plate, or pulling a safety rope or switch can disconnect the electrical power

to the machine.  (Tr. 3683-87; Exh. C-144)  These safety measures are not usually used by

employees during reel, chuck or ply block changes if the machine is unexpectedly energized.  The

only beadwinder who testified stated that he would release the wire and back away rather than pull

the safety rope in the event the machine became unexpectedly energized.   (Tr. 3690-91)

Discussion

Respondent contends that the activities performed by operators of the beadwinder are not

service and maintenance as defined by the standard.  As stated at footnote 7 supra, tool changes,

where the employee may be exposed to the unexpected energization or release of hazardous energy,

constitutes service and maintenance under the LOTO standard.  Respondent has failed to establish

that the tooling activities on the beadwinder fall within the exception of minor servicing, footnote

5 supra, for the simple reason that the beadwinder is not engaged in production during the chuck and

ply block change or during the rethreading of the wire when it breaks.  Further, the beadwinder is

not in production during the reel change.  

In order to prevail on this violation, the Secretary must prove that: (1) the standard applies;

(2) Dayton Tire failed to comply with the terms of the standard; (3) employees had access to the

cited condition; and (4) Dayton Tire knew or, with the exercise of reasonable diligence, could have
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known of the violative condition.  Astra Pharmaceutical Products, Inc. supra; Gary Concrete

Products supra.

The Secretary has presented sufficient evidence to support the conclusion that employees

were exposed to the hazards of unexpected energization of the beadwinders Nos. 3, 4 and 5 during

reel changes.  These conventional beadwinders do not have a multiple step process to activate the

machine.  See  General Motors Corp., Delco Chassis Div. supra.  The sensors in the letoff area

which shut the machine down when a wire breaks allows the machine to operate when wire is

rethread in a figure 8 around the pulleys.  (Tr.  3612-13) Thus, employees rethreading wire have no

foreknowledge of an accidental start up until the machine is energized with an immediate exposure

to injury.  Employee testimony established that employees changing a wire reel in the letoff area

could be struck by a rotating post, the brake arm assembly moving back and forth or the movement

of the pulleys if the beadwinder was unexpectedly energized.  Further, employees were exposed to

hazards of having fingers severely cut or amputated by the wires or pulleys by a sudden startup.

Finally, the operator could be pulled and jerked into the other wires and sustain serious lacerations

while engaged in rethreading the wire if the machine was unexpectedly energized.  (Tr. 3612-13)

The only beadwinder employee who testified stated that he has experienced unexpected

energization during reel changes but was not injured.  The employee stated that on a number of

occasions, supervisors and maintenance people have accidentally activated the beadwinder while

he was working in the letoff area.  Moreover, the letoff sensor shut off switch does not prevent

unexpected startups once the wire is rethread through the pulleys in a figure eight pattern.  The drive

motor control panel is located 20 feet to the left of the letoff area and is not readily accessible to the

employee during a reel change.   (Tr. 3610-13)

With regard to changing the chuck and ply block, the Secretary has established that

employees were exposed to serious injuries while performing these changes on all five beadwinders.

Unexpected energization of the beadwinder during a chuck change would likely throw the chuck

onto the employee or the employee’s hands could be entangled in the rotating chuck with resulting

serious injuries.  (Tr. 3651)  Moreover, employees were exposed to the hazard of having fingers

crushed by the ply block if it unexpectedly rotated.  Employees were also exposed to the danger of

being struck on their arms by the rocker assembly during a ply block change if the machine became

unexpectedly energized.  (Tr. 3656-68)
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Although the beadwinder operator testified that he has not experienced unexpected

movement of the machine during chuck and ply block changes, unexpected energization could occur

if someone accidentally hit a control button and energized the beadwinder when the operator is

engaged in a chuck change.  (Tr. 3673)  Further, there is testimony that the location of the

beadwinder control panel to the chuck would not prevent hazards of unexpected energizations

because another employee could reset the control panel without the operator’s knowledge.  (Tr.

5139)  Likewise, an operator changing the ply block is exposed to the hazard of another person

unexpectedly energizing the beadwinder since the operator is behind the winder head assembly and

can not be seen from the control panels at the front of the machine.

Employee testimony also established that safety ropes, stop buttons, stop switch and kick

plates are not reliable alternative means to LOTO procedures because they do not always deactivate

the machine.  These safety measures were designed to stop the machine in an emergency.  They

were not designed to prevent unexpected energization of the machine.  (Tr. 3697-98)   Moreover,

employees have little or no time to get out of the zone of danger in the event of an unexpected

energization of the machine.

The facts establish that Dayton Tire failed to implement the required LOTO procedures for

tool changes on beadwinders.  Dayton Tire employees were exposed to the unexpected release of

hazardous energy from the conventional beadwinders (Nos. 3, 4 and 5) while changing wire reels,

chucks and ply blocks, and they were exposed to unexpected energization during chuck and ply

block changes on the automated beadwinders (Nos. 1 and 2).  Based upon the record, there is

insufficient evidence to find a violation as to the automated Beadwinders Nos. 1 and 2 during reel

changes since the machines are de-energized when the gates are opened.  However, employees were

exposed to unexpected energization during chuck and ply block changes on Nos. 1 and 2.  For the

foregoing reasons, the Complainant has met his burden of proof and a violation of the standard as

to the aforesaid Beadwinders is affirmed. 

The Secretary alleges that Respondent willfully failed to institute LOTO procedures when

employees were engaged in performing the aforesaid work activities on the bead winding machine.

This allegation is based upon Complainant’s belief that Respondent, as a matter of plant wide

corporate policy, intentionally disregarded or was plainly indifferent to the requirements of the

LOTO standard (supra pgs. 24-27).  As previously discussed the evidence does not support the



13
Respondent objected to the admission of any employee’s opinion regarding possible injuries that could be

sustained while performing work activities deemed hazardous by the Secretary on the ground that the testimony  was

pure speculation.  That global objection was overruled pursuant to Rule 701 FRE.  (Tr. 1266-67, 2285)

40

conclusion that Respondent, as a matter of plant wide corporate policy, willfully violated the LOTO

standard.  Moreover, there is nothing in the record in support of the conclusion that Respondent

possessed a “heightened awareness” that LOTO procedures should have been instituted when

beadwinder operators were engaged in the activities described above.  Beadwinders were not

included in the “Des Moines citation.”  Therefore that citation did not provide the Respondent with

a “heighten awareness” of the violation.  Thus, there is no basis for concluding that this violation

is “willful” within the meaning of the Act.

It is clear, however, that a violation of the standard has been established and Respondent’s

employees were exposed to serious physical harm.  Section 17(k) of the Act defines a serious

violation as follows:

For purposes of this section, a serious violation shall be deemed to exist in
a place of employment if there is a substantial probability that death or serious
physical harm could result from a condition which exists, or from one or more
practices, means, methods, operations, or processes which have been adopted or are
in use, in such place of employment unless the employer did not, and could not with
the exercise of reasonable diligence, know of the presence of the violation.

29 CFR § 666(k).  

The Secretary does not have to prove that there is a substantial probability that an accident

will occur, but rather that death or serious physical harm could occur.  See East Texas Motor

Freight, Inc. v. OSHRC, 671 F.2d 845 (5th Cir. 1982); Bethlehem Steel Corp. v. OSHRC, 607 F.2d

1069 (3rd Cir. 1979). Employee testimony supports the conclusion that failure to implement LOTO

procedures could cause serious physical harm to the employees such as severe lacerations of the

hands and arms or amputations of fingers.  (Tr. 3612-14, 3657-58)  According to the testimony,

employees reported that supervisors and maintenance would unexpectedly energized the beadwinder

while the operator was engaged in a tool or reel changes. (Tr. 3610-12, 3643-46)  This evidence was

elicited by Complainant’s Counsel without objection by Respondent that the evidence was irrelevant

to the willful litigation, or was beyond the scope of the citation.13
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During oral argument, Complainant’s Counsel attempted to explain the inclusion of two different machines

into one item by stating that they are located in the same department.  (Tr. 5575)  However, there is no rational or legal

basis for placing two separate machine types in the same item under the instance by instance (egregious) program, nor

is it a sufficient basis to combine these machines in one item because they are in close proximity to each other.
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Although the pleadings allege that Respondent “willfully” violated the alleged standard, the

Secretary also presented evidence in support of a serious violation; that is, (a) that the employer

knew or with exercise of reasonable diligence, should have known of the violations and (b) that

employees were exposed to serious physical harm or death.  The first element was satisfied by

Complainant in his attempt to establish willfulness.  The second element was established by

employee testimony.  Therefore, it is concluded that the parties tried this item by implied consent

as a serious violation of 29 CFR 1910.147(c)(4)(i).  See Secretary of Labor v. Dye Construction Co.,

6 BNA OSHC 1685 (1978); Secretary of Labor v. Central Plains Contracting, 1 BNA OSHC 2188

(1981).  See also Secretary of Labor v. Dye Construction Co., 4 BNA OSHC 144 (1976).

Accordingly, the citation and complaint are amended pursuant to Rule 15(b) of the Federal Rules

of Civil Procedure to allege a serious violation and the citation, as amended, is affirmed.

Item 3(a) Curing Press and 3(b) Radial Doper

Item 3 of Citation I reads as follows:

29 C.F.R. § 1910.147(c)(4)(i):  Procedures were not developed, documented
and utilized for the control of potentially hazardous energy when employees were
engaged in activities covered by this section: At the plant[,] a documented procedure
to control potential hazardous energy for each type of machine was not being used
by employees setting up curing presses and cleaning doper machines.

This violation relates to the alleged service and maintenance functions of setting up and

changing the PCI rings, mold and bladder in the curing press and the activities of employees

engaged in cleaning doper machines.  Although the Secretary issued a separate violation of the

above standard for each type of machine for which LOTO procedures are required (Tr. 5401), in this

instance two distinctly different types of machines have been combined into one item.14  Based upon

the evidence presented as well as a personal view of Respondent’s plant, the functions of the

machines as well as the employee’s work activity are clearly different and require separate analyses.

For these reasons, item 3 of the citation will be separated into item 3(a) curing press and 3(b) doper

machine.
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Item 3(a) Curing Press

Background

During the period of inspection, Respondent’s plant contained two hundred and twenty

curing presses of which one hundred and eighty are normally in use.  (Tr. 3894; Ct. Exh. 4-Curing

Press 4)  The curing press vulcanizes treated green tires by heat and pressure into a finished tire.

A curing press is 10 feet long, 12 feet wide and 20 feet tall and consist, in pertinent part, of two

molds, two tire loaders, two “top hats” and a post cure inflator (PCI) unit.  (Tr. 3899-3900; Exh. C-

149)  The molds, located adjacent to each other inside the press, are  made of aluminum and steel

and weigh approximately 400 pounds.  Inside each mold is a rubber bladder which is inflated with

steam to press the tire into the side of the mold.  The top half of the molds are bolted to 2 inch thick

metal platens on the top half of the curing press.  The bottom half of the molds are bolted to the

bottom half of the press.  The tire loaders are attached to the top half of the press.  Top hats sit on

the floor in front of the press.  (Tr. 3897-99) The four PCIs located at the rear of the curing press

cool the tires upon completion of the curing process.  A PCI has a top and bottom chuck, PCI rings

and PCI ring bolts.  Two bolts secure a PCI ring to a chuck.  The PCI rings have teeth or gears that

must line up to close the rings.  

A bull gear and a side link located on the right side of the curing press rotate to move the top

half of the press up and down.  (Tr. 3900-04; Ct. Exh. 4-Curing Press 7)  A safety bar surrounding

the tire loader and a safety bar located near the bottom half of the press will stop the press and the

loaders if an employee pushes either bar.  To open the press, an employee pushes the bar until the

press is opened to the desire width.  A T-shape safety rope is located inside the tire loader safety bar

and an emergency stop button is located on the front control panel.  (Exhs. C-149; C-2F1; Tr. 3958-

64, 4026-27, 4153-54)   

The curing press is energized by electric, pneumatic, and steam energy.  Both the top half

and the bottom half of the press move up and down.  The tire loaders move with the top half of the

press or they can move independently along a chain system.  The rubber bladders are inflated with

steam and hot water from the bag well to press the tire into the mold.  (Tr. 4101-03)  Electrical and

pneumatic energy power the PCI rings.  The bottom PCI ring moves up to a close position and down

to an open position while the top PCI ring remains stationary.  (Tr. 3904) The curing press main

control panel is located on the right front of the press; however, the PCI unit has its own control
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panel at the rear of the press.  (Tr. 4059)   The two control panels are separate and distinct except

that both contain a tire loader button.  (Tr. 4060-63)  If the tire loader is malfunctioning and cannot

be activated from the curing press control panel, it can be activated from the PCI control panel as

long as the press is in automatic, the stop/play switches are in a certain position, and if there are no

tires on the loader.  (Tr. 4228, 4264)  

A Curing press operator is responsible for approximately 50 to 60 curing presses.  The

operation is initiated by placing the green tires on the top hats.  (Tr. 4071)  The tire loaders move

on a motor and chain system and pick up the green tires from the top hats and set the tires in the

center of the bottom mold.  The rubber bladder inflates and presses the tire into the mold to form the

tread design and lettering.  As the tire is stretched, the top half of the press comes down to meet the

bottom half of the press.  The tire is then vulcanized by a combination of steam, heat and pressure.

Upon completion of this process, the tires are transferred from the molds to the PCI unit.  Air is

inflated into the tires until they are cooled.  Finally, the PCI rings release the cooled tires onto a

conveyor which moves them to the Finally Inspection Department.  (Tr. 3905-06)

An employee known as a mold/bladder changer changes the molds and the PCI rings

consistent with the type or size of tire that is produced.  Mold/bladder changers are trained by fellow

employees.  (Tr. 4000, 4016) There are not written procedures for a mold and PCI ring change

except that Respondent requires its employees to tagout the curing press during this process.  (Tr.

4031-32)  To complete a mold change, an employee must change the mold, the bladder, ejector head,

the heat shield, the split rings, the ball nose and the rings around the dowel pins.  The mold/bladder

changer stands on the tophats and is positioned between the press and a safety bar.  (Exh. C-2F1)

The curing press is placed in the manual mode but remains energized.  The mold/bladder changer

jogs the press approximately 25 times into different positions during a mold change.  First, the

changer opens the press and removes the bladder, the split rings and the bottom mold bolts.  At this

point, the top half of the press is approximately 4 feet above the changer’s head.  The mold/bladder

changer’s arms and upper body are positioned beneath the tire loader while loosening and tightening

the bolts for the bottom mold.  The changer then jogs the press into a half open position to remove

the ball nose.  At this point, the tire loader is approximately 2 feet above the mold/bladder changer’s

head.  To change the ejector head, the press is lowered 18 inches and is right above the changer’s



44

arm.  The top mold bolts are then loosened which requires the mold/bladder changer to work directly

underneath the tire loader.  (Tr. 3908, 3968, 3979-85)

After the bolts are loosened, a forklift is used to lift the molds out of the press and insert the

new top mold.  The top mold bolts are tightened and the press is raised approximately 18 inches to

install the new ejector head.  The press is raised another foot to install the ball nose.  The press is

then fully opened so that the bottom mold can be inserted and tightened.  Finally, the mold/bladder

changer inserts a new split ring and bladder.  A mold change takes approximately two hours to

complete.  (Tr. 3996-99)  The Secretary argues that mold/bladder changers are exposed, in the event

of unexpected energization, to the hazards associated with movement of the top half of the press

which could cause serious bodily injury (crushing) when performing setup operations on the curing

press.  The Secretary asserts that employees are also exposed to the hazard of the tire loaders

unexpectedly descending on the employee while performing tool changes.  Finally, the Secretary

alleges that employees are exposed to the unexpected release of steam and hot water which could

cause severe burns.  

To change the PCI rings, the mold/bladder changer places the PCI unit in manual.  Next, the

changer pneumatically opens the chuck and turns the air off.  The bottom chuck and ring are lowered

in order to open the chuck.  The top chuck and ring are stationary.  (Tr. 3904)  The bolts are

loosened and the yoke is then opened to remove the old rings.  After the new rings are inserted, the

mold/bladder changer closes the yoke and reinserts the bolts.  This process is repeated until all four

PCI have been serviced.  A PCI ring change takes approximately 2 hours to complete. (Tr. 3908,

4013-15; Ct. Exh. 4-Curing Press 14)  The Secretary contends that employees performing PCI ring

changes are exposed to the unexpected movement of the PCI which could result in broken fingers

or hands caught between the pinch points of the two rings.

Discussion

Respondent disputes the applicability of the LOTO standard to the curing press and asserts

that the above described tool changes fall within the minor service and maintenance exception.

Dayton Tire argues that mold/bladder changers were not exposed to unexpected movement of the

top half of the press or the tire loader for the following reasons.  First, Respondent argues that the

top half of the press and the tire loader cannot fall or move unexpectedly because they are geared

in such a manner that they can only be lowered by the curing press motor.  Respondent points to the
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fact that the configuration of the track on which the side link travels keeps the press open and

placing the press in manual prevents it from moving unless an employee pushes the control button.

Moreover, a pneumatic safety device on the top of the curing press prevents the loader from

descending unexpectedly.  (Tr. 4029-30, 4084)  Respondent also argues that emergency stop buttons,

safety ropes and bars are alternative measures to LOTO since they will stop all movement when

engaged.  In addition, Dayton Tire requires mold/bladder changers to tagout the machine to prevent

other employees from starting up the machine.  (Tr. 4040-44)  The Respondent also asserts that

mold/bladder changers were not exposed to unexpected movement during  PCI ring change.  Finally,

Dayton Tire argues that it is infeasible to lockout the curing press because it will take an entire shift

to complete a mold and PCI ring change and therefore, compliance will unreasonably disrupt

production.  Respondent states that blocking the top half of the mold and the Dayton Loader will

cause the entire press to jack out of the floor, breaking the mechanism holding the loader, and

causing the loader to crash to the floor.  (Respondent’s Post-Trial Brief at pg. 64-66)

The Secretary has established that the LOTO standard, which covers service and

maintenance in which unexpected energization of equipment could cause injury to employees,

applies to the curing press.  The tasks performed by mold/bladder changers constitute service and

maintenance as defined by the LOTO standard.  See footnote 7 supra.  The mold, bladder and PCI

ring changes are basic setup operations required to be performed in order to prepare the curing press

for production.  Although Dayton Tire argues that these activities are minor, they have failed to

establish that mold and PCI ring changes fall within the minor servicing exception standard for the

simple reason that the curing press is not engaged in production during these servicing activities.

Westvaco supra.  Moreover, the work activity clearly constitutes major modifications to machine

components and go far beyond the minor machine adjustments made during production operations

that are contemplated by the “minor adjustment” exception to the standard.

The Secretary has presented sufficient evidence to establish a violation of the cited standard.

Mold/bladder changers were exposed to unexpected energization of the curing press which could

result in serious bodily injury or death when placing their bodies in the path of the press during a

mold change.  The evidence indicates that an employee could inadvertently hit a button on the front

control panel and unintentionally energize the press.  (Tr. 4042-46)  Furthermore, the curing press

has continued to descend unexpectedly even though the mold/bladder changer had released the close
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button.  (Tr.  4077-80, 4274-75)  The top mold has descended because of brake failure.  (Tr. 4295-

97)  The press has unexpectedly closed with such force as to break the dowel pins.  (Tr. 4342-44)

Employee testimony reveals that the tire loader could unexpectedly energize during a mold

change if an employee accidentally puts the curing press in automatic and turns the tire loader switch

on the PCI control panel while a mold/bladder changer is working on the other side of the press.  (Tr.

4090, 4228, 4264)  Mold/bladder changers have inadvertently pressed the wrong button on the front

control panel and caused the tire loader to descend rather than ascend.  (Tr. 4081)  On one occasion,

the tire loader fell because the chains broke.  (Tr. 3937-38, 4009, 4057)  The cause of some machine

movements were unexplained.  (T. 4342-44)  The facts are clear that mold/bladder changers could

sustain crushing injuries from unexpected energization of the curing press because their upper body

is in the path of the press and the tire loader during a mold change. 

The Secretary has also established that employees have sustained severe burns from the

hazardous release of steam and hot water during a bladder change.  Employees were not required

to control the steam and hot water in the bag well when removing the bladder.  (Tr. 4119, 4260,

4307, 4324) Employee testimony reveals that steam and hot water were frequently released during

a bladder change which caused severe burns.  (Tr. 4101-03, 4011-12, 4222, 4278, 4312)  

With regard to the PCI rings, employees were exposed to serious injury such as broken or

crushed fingers and hands when they place their fingers in the path of the rings during the ring

change.   (Tr. 4017) Employee testimony reveals that in the past the PCI unit has unexpectedly

energized during a tool change.  Some movements were unexplained while other movements were

accidental.  (Tr. 4247-48) On one occasion, an employee completed a ring change and attempted to

line up rings when the rings snapped shut and crushed his thumb.  (Tr. 4018) 

The evidence does not support a finding that utilization of a tagout system in this case

coupled with alternative safety measures provided full employee protection as required by section

(c)(2)(ii) of the standard.   Dayton Tire failed to rebut the conclusion that the safety rope, safety bars

and the emergency stop button at the front of the press do not provide effective means of protection

against unexpected energization and the hazards associated therewith.  The facts support a finding

that these safety measures are not alternative means of protection.  During a mold change, the

employee must stand on the tophats and is positioned between the curing press and the safety bar.



15
The Comm ission in Dun-Par Engineered Form Co.,  12 BNA OSH C 1949, 1986-87 CCH OSHD ¶27,650,

held  that the Secretary of Labor had the burden of proof to show the  feasibility of an alternative abatem ent measure

if the employer proved that compliance with the cited standard was infeasible.  Id. at 1956-59.   In Seibel Modern

Manufacturing & Welding Corp. supra, the C om mission required the employer to establish both elements of the

infeasib ility defense. 
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If the press is accidentally energized at that time, the employee is exposed to being struck without

warning by the tire loaders before he can push the safety bar.  (Tr. 4007; Exh. C-2F1)

Respondent has asserted the affirmative defense of infeasibility and argues that it did not

violate the standard because it is infeasible to lockout the curing press during a mold/bladder change.

In Secretary of Labor v. Seibel Modern Manufacturing & Welding Corp., 15 OSHC 1218, 1991

OSHD 29,442 (1991), the Commission held that the employer must meet the standard of proof

regarding both elements of the defense, i.e., the infeasibility of the abatement measure required by

the cited standard and the infeasibility of any alternative measure.15  Id. at 1228.  See also Westvaco

supra at 1380 (quoting Mosser Construction Co., 15 BNA OSHC 1408, 1416, 1992 CCH OSHD

¶29,546, p. 39,907).  Respondent states that a mold/bladder change using lockout measures takes

6.5 hours to complete.   (Tr. 6113)  Respondent argues that this unreasonably interferes with the

work activities since it normally takes 1.5 hours to complete a mold/bladder change and therefore,

it is infeasible to comply with LOTO.  Although a mold/bladder change may take 6.5 hours to

complete, Respondent cannot argue that this is unreasonable in light of the fact that employees are

exposed to serious bodily injury or death during a mold/bladder change in absence of LOTO

procedures.  It is clear that Respondent is not arguing technological infeasibility since the mold and

PCI ring change may be achieved while the machine is locked out.  See Ace Sheeting and Repair Co.

v. OSHRC, 555 F.2d 439 (5th Cir. 1977); General Electric Co. v. OSHRC, 540 F.2d 67 (2nd Cir.

1977); Castle and Cooke Foods, 692 F.2d 641 (9th Cir. 1982).  Respondent is apparently arguing

that increasing the time to complete the work from 1.5 hours to 6.5 hours constitutes economic

infeasibility.  However, there is no evidence in the record that instituting LOTO procedures for the

curing press will threaten Respondent’s long term profitability and competitiveness.  RMI Co. v.

Secretary of Labor, 594 F.2d 566 (6th Cir. 1979).  The fact that compliance with the standard may

inconvenience Respondent is no defense.  U.S. Steel Corp. v. OSHRC, 1976-1977 CCH OSHD

¶20,865 (3rd Cir. 1976); Sheet Metal Specialty Co., 1974-75 CCH OSHD ¶19,546 (Rev. Com.
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1975).  Further, Respondent has failed to establish that alternative measures are infeasible as

required by the second part of the infeasibility defense.  Although Respondent presented evidence

that blocking is not feasible (Tr. 5877-84), there is no evidence that it looked at other alternatives

or that it attempted to develop other alternative measures.  Therefore, Respondent has not met its

burden of proof regarding both elements of the infeasibility defense.

Based on the record, the Respondent has failed to institute the lockout procedures required

by the standard during the mold and PCI ring change when employees were exposed to the

unexpected movement of the top half of the press, the tire loaders and the PCI rings.  The evidence

supports the conclusion that employees were exposed to serious injury or death from the curing press

and the PCI unit, and the employer knew or, with the exercise of reasonable diligence, could have

known of the violation.  For the foregoing reasons, it is concluded that the Secretary has sustained

his burden of proof and the violation as to the curing press and the PCI unit is affirmed.

As previously discussed, a willful violation is defined as “intentional disregard” or “plain

indifference” toward the standard.  See Willful Analysis Section supra pg. 22.  On February 12,

1993, Dayton Tire’s Des Moines, Iowa plant was issued a citation for failure to implement LOTO

procedures which included the curing press.  The facts support a finding that the Respondent had

a heighten awareness that mold/bladder changers were exposed to hazardous energy.  However, the

Respondent was indifferent towards the standard and did not take any measures to protect their

employees from unexpected energization of the curing press. Therefore, the violation as found above

constitutes a willful violation within the meaning of the Act. 

Item 3(b) Doper Machine

Background

During the period of inspection, Respondent’s plant contained seven radial dopers (“doper

machines”).  Each doper machine operates substantially in the same manner; however, the layout

of Nos. 1, 2, 3, 5, and 7, as depicted in Exh. C-146, is the mirror image of the layout of Nos. 4 and

6.  Respondent reversed the layout of two doper machines to efficiently use the space available in

the plant.  (Tr. 3704, 3711-12)  The doper machine applies lubricant to the interior of the green tire

and paints the exterior to facilitate the curing process.  Specifically, “blem” paint is sprayed on the

sidewalls, tread wash is applied to the treads, and dope is sprayed on the interior of the tire.  (Tr.

3704-05)
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The doper machine is 25 feet long and 20 feet wide.  (Tr. 3713)  It consists of a U-shaped

conveyor system, load table, clamp arms, a cabinet which contains the dope gun, blem spray nozzle

(also referred to as the paint gun) and tread wash applicator, exit conveyor and accumulator

conveyor.  Green tires are transported on beehive racks from the tire room to the doper machine.

During normal operations, the operator stands at the end of the conveyor belt and loads the tires onto

the conveyor which moves the tires to the load table.  The clamp arm picks each tire from the load

table and rotate as the tire is transported into the cabinet where blem, tread wash and dope are

applied.  After this process is completed, the clamp arm traverses out of the cabinet, releases the tire

onto the exit conveyor and cycles back to the load table to pick up another tire.  From the exit

conveyor, the treated tire travels to the accumulator conveyor where the operator stacks it on a

beehive rack. (Tr. 3704-05, 3713-14)

The doper machine is energized by electric and pneumatic energy.   (Tr. 3753-54; Ct. Exh.4-

Radial Doper 14)  Pneumatic energy powers the traverse on which the clamp arm travels to the dope

gun, the blem spray gun and the tread wash roller.  (Tr. 3754)  The dope gun moves up and down

inside the cabinet to spray dope on the interior of tire.  The tread wash roller flips onto the tire.  (Tr.

3745)

There are five control panels on the doper machine.  Control panel 1 is located near the

beginning of the conveyor system where the tires are loaded onto the machine and contains a manual

button and an emergency stop button.  Control panel 2 is a cabinet that holds the computer system

for the doper and is located in the U-shaped area of the conveyor system.  Control panel 3 is located

on the front of the load table and contains an emergency stop button, an automatic start button, a

manual stop button, a button to jog the conveyors, a button to run the traverse in and out of the

cabinet and one to move the dope gun up and down.  Control panel 4 is located at the upper left hand

corner of the paint cabinet and has a number of switches to move and test the dope and spray guns.

Finally, control panel 5 is located on the right hand corner of the end of accumulator conveyor.

From this location, a doper attendant can turn the tread wash and the paint gun on and off, switch

the machine into manual and move the paint gun up and down.  (Exh. C-146; Tr. 3706-10, 3722-23,

3756-57)

In addition to the emergency stop buttons located on the control panels, the doper machine

is also equipped with safety ropes, safety switches and photo eyes.  Safety switches are located on
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both ends of the U-shaped conveyor and the upper right hand corner of the cabinet.  Safety ropes

are also strung from above the cabinet across to the right hand corner of the load table.   Additional

safety ropes starting from the exit conveyor are strung on both sides of the accumulator conveyor

and on both sides of the U-shaped conveyor.  (Exh. C-146)  Photo eyes are located on both sides of

the load table interior to start and stop the conveyor so that only one tire at a time moves onto the

load table.  (Tr. 3786-89)

  The violations alleged by the Secretary with respect to the doper machine relate to cleaning

the paint cabinet and its component parts.  Respondent has no written procedures which employees

are required to follow when cleaning the clamp arm, spray gun, dope gun and the paint cabinet floor.

Employees were not trained at the “authorized level” and are not required to utilize lockout

procedures when engaged in these activities.  (Ct. Exh. 4-Radial Doper 15; Tr. 3722-23)  In order

to clean the various pieces of equipment in the cabinet, the doper attendant places the machine in

manual from either control panel 1 or 3.  (Tr. 3754) The doper machine is not deenergized either

pneumatically or electronically.  The clamp arm is manually jogged into the cabinet and cleaned in

the open position.  The doper attendant is positioned in front of the cabinet to clean the equipment.

Some doper attendants use a long handle wire brush approximately 10 to 12 inches long to remove

the blem and dope build up on the clamp arm while others use their hands, a scraper and paper

towels.  (Tr. 3743)  With regard to cleaning the cabinet floor, the attendants use either a 3-4 foot

long scrapper or a short scrapper which requires the employee to lean into the cabinet.  To clean the

spray nozzle, the doper attendant removes the nozzle collar and using a wire brush, knife and/or

paper towels, removes the blem and dope buildup before reinstalling it.  (Ct. Exh. 4-Radial Doper

13) It is necessary for the employee to lean into the cabinet to clean the clamp arm, the spray nozzle,

dope gun and the cabinet floor.  (Tr. 3746-53)

The doper attendant is required to load green tires onto the machine, unload the treated tires,

monitor the machine and clean various pieces of equipment inside the cabinet.  Specifically, the

doper attendant is required to clean the clamp arm and the paint guns approximately every two

hours. The clamp arm takes about five minutes to clean.  The dope gun and the cabinet floor are

usually cleaned at the end of the shift.  (Tr. 3748-50; Ct. Exh. 4-Radial Doper 10)  The Secretary

asserts that employees removing build up on the clamp arm are exposed to the hazard of unexpected

movement of the clamp arm which could result in lacerations or broken bones of the hand or arm.
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Further, the Secretary contends that unexpected energization of the clamp arm during the spray

nozzle cleaning could break or bruise an employee’s hand.  The Secretary also alleges that

employees are exposed to unexpected movement of the clamp arm when cleaning the cabinet floor

which could result in serious injury.  Finally, the Secretary argues that employees are exposed to the

hazard of unexpected movement of the clamp arm and the dope gun when cleaning the tip of dope

gun.

Discussion

Respondent argues that cleaning the clamp arm, the spray nozzles, the dope gun and the

cabinet floor does not constitute service and maintenance as defined by the standard but rather fall

within the exception of minor servicing, see footnote 5 supra, on the ground that cleaning the clamp

arm and the dope gun constitutes minor servicing and maintenance because these activities are

performed at routine intervals and are integral to the function of the doper machine. Moreover,

Dayton Tire argues that alternative safety measures to LOTO procedures such as safety ropes, safety

switches and emergency stop buttons provide effective means of protection.

The LOTO standard covers service and maintenance in which unexpected energization of

equipment could cause injury to employees.  See footnote 4 supra.  Removing the buildup of blem,

tread wash and dope from the clamp arm, dope gun, spray nozzle and the cabinet floor fall within

the definition of service and maintenance which includes cleaning of machines where employees

are exposed to unexpected energization.  See footnote 7 supra.  Although Dayton Tire argues that

these activities are minor, they do not fall within the minor servicing exception standard because the

doper machine is not engaged in production during these servicing activities.  Moreover, safety

ropes, switches and emergency buttons do not provide effective means of protection.  First, doper

attendants cleaning the clamp arm, dope gun, spray nozzle and the cabinet floor cannot simply reach

up and pull the safety rope or the safety switch. The ability to reach the safety ropes also depends

on type of the tool used for cleaning.  Although an employee is able to keep his body outside the

cabinet and away from the zone of danger by using a long handle scraper or brush, an employee

using a short handle scraper or brush would have insufficient time to step back from the cabinet and

pull the safety rope.  There are no emergency stop buttons on control panel 4, the control panel on

the lefthand side of the cabinet opening.  (Tr. 3774-77; Exh. C-146)
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The Secretary has established that the doper machine unexpectedly energized during service

and maintenance activities.  See General Motors Corp. supra at 1219.  The evidence supports the

finding that doper attendants were exposed to the hazard of being struck by moving clamp arms

when cleaning the clamp arm, spray nozzle, dope gun and the cabinet floor.  During the clamp arm

cleaning process, an employee’s body would come within a couple of inches of the clamp arm.  (Ct.

Exh. 4-Radial Doper 12)  Further, employees were exposed to the hazard of being hit on the head,

shoulders or hands during a dope gun cleaning by rotating clamp arms.  Employee testimony reveals

that the clamp arms have moved unexpectedly due to a leak in the air cylinder in the traverse or as

a result of other employees accidentally jogging the clamp arms.  (Tr. 3768, 3876-79, 3891)

Employees are also exposed to the unexpected rotation of the clamp arm because another employee

could unexpectedly switch the doper machine into automatic during the cleaning process (Tr. 5259).

In one instance, a leak in the traverse air cylinder caused the clamp arm to jog in towards the cabinet

approximately 6 inches.  (Tr. 3892) The clamp arm can fully traverse into the cabinet depending on

the amount of pneumatic energy in the air cylinder.  According to testimony, an employee

accidentally jogged the clamp arm in and out of the cabinet while another employee was cleaning

the equipment in the cabinet.  (Tr. 3876-79)

Respondent acknowledges that employees were not required to lockout the doper machine

when cleaning the clamp arm, dope gun, spray nozzle and the cabinet floor.  The evidence

establishes, however, that employees were exposed to serious physical harm in the event of

unexpected energization while engaged in these activities.  Moreover, as previously stated, the

activities do not fall within the “minor maintenance” exception to the standard.  For these reasons,

the citation is affirmed.

Although a violation exists as to the doper machine, the Secretary has failed to prove that

it is a willful violation.  As discussed above, a willful violation is defined as “intentional disregard”

or “plain indifference” toward the standard.  The Respondent has made a good faith effort to comply

with the LOTO standard by hiring Ogden Allied to perform all service and maintenance activities

on all the machines and training their employees at the affected level.  See Willful Analysis Section

supra pgs. 23-27.  Moreover, the facts support a finding that Dayton Tire did not have a heighten

awareness that it was violating the standard as to the doper machine since the doper was not cited

in the Des Moines, Iowa plant.  Supra pg. 25-26.  See also footnote 12 supra. 
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The evidence does support the conclusion, however, that failure to implement LOTO

procedures could cause serious physical harm such as severe lacerations of the hands and arms or

impact to the head and shoulder in the event of unexpected energization. Therefore, the violation

as found above constitutes a serious violation within the meaning of the Act.  Moreover, this item

was tried as a serious violation by the implied consent of the parties.  Dye Construction Co., 6 BNA

OSHC 1685 (1985).  Accordingly, the citation and complaint are amended pursuant to Rule 15(b)

of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure to reflect a serious violation of the cited standard.

Item 4 Tread Tuber and Dayton Loader

Item 4 of the Citation reads as follows:

29 C.F.R. § 1910.147(c)(4)(i):  Procedures were not developed, documented
and utilized for the control of potentially hazardous energy when employees were
engaged in activities covered by this section: At the plant[,] a documented procedure
to control potential hazardous energy for each type of machine was not being used
by employees unjamming mills and extruders.

This alleged violation relates to the activities of employees engaged in unjamming mills and

extruders of the tread tubers.  The citation was amended to include the Dayton Loader.  The tread

tubers and the Dayton Loader make up the Tubing Department where white sidewall, black sidewall

and treads are produced.  During the period of inspection, Respondent’s plant contained four tread

tubers which are essentially the same.  The tread tuber is a large machine consisting of mills,

extruders, conveyors and a mechanical knife.  Tubers Nos. 1, 2, and 3 have four mills and extruders.

However, No. .5 has two extruders and a conveyor system. (Tr. 2294-97) Each mill consists of two

stainless steel rotating drums which are also known as mill rolls.  A drive is located between each

mill.  (Tr. 2342; Exh. C-135)

Background  

The Dayton Loader transports rubber stock from the Banbury Department and feeds it into

the tread tubers.  A take away conveyor transfers the rubber from the Dayton Loader into the mills.

The mills breakdown (heat) the rubber stock on two counter-rotating stainless steel drums

approximately eight feet long and two and a half feet diameter.  The rubber is transferred onto a feed

conveyor which brings it to the knife area where it is cut into different size strips.  The strips of

rubber are then fed into an extruder which contains an eight to ten-inch auger or worm screw that

spins the rubber and pushes it out onto the conveyor that leads to the calender.  The calendar applies
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It is noted that the Secretary continues to assert that a violation exists as to the take away and feed conveyors

of the tuber.  However, an objection to the testimony on  conveyors was sustained because they are beyond the scope of

the citation.  Item 4 deals only with mill and extruders.   (Tr. 2399-2401)  Therefore, this decision does not address

whether there is a violation as to the feed conveyor and the take away conveyor.
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The Secretary failed to established the source of energy for the tuber.  How ever, based on the record as a

whole, an inference can be made that the source of energy for the tuber is e lectrical.  
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veneer to the treads and the white sidewalls.  A “cushion” is also applied to the white sidewalls.

After this process is completed, the white sidewalls and the treads go through the marker wheels

where labels are put on the treads.  The rubber moves onto an elevated cooling conveyor where it

is sprayed with water. The cooled rubber descends by conveyor to the skiver knife which cuts the

rubber into appropriate lengths.  Cement is applied to the treads and “booked” (stacked) into trays.

The sidewalls are also wound up on spools.  (Tr. 2295-2326; C-135)

A group of 4-5 employees consisting of  mill operators, BEI attendants and mill attendants

operate a tuber.  The tuber employees work in a protective hearing area and communicate via

intercom.  (Tr. 2355)  Mill attendants supply blackwall, veneer and cushion for the extruder and the

main sidewall extruder and monitor the tuber for malfunctions.  Mill operators, BEI attendants and

mill attendants clear rubber jams on the mills, extruders, Dayton Loader and conveyors (feed and

take away).16    

Various parts of the tuber are energized.17  The mill rolls rotate counterclockwise.  The auger

spins at approximately at 60-70 rpms.  (Tr. 2394)  Pinch points are located between the Dayton

Loader conveyor and the roller.  There are also pinch points between the feed conveyor and the take

away conveyor and rollers.  (Tr. 2353-71, 2383-85, 2391-97) Safety ropes, stop buttons and belly

bars (safety bars) are located at various points on the tuber.  Belly bars surround the mill rolls and

will stop the mill rolls when actuated.  Each belly bar has a single reset button on the side of the

mill.  Safety ropes are strung over the mills, extruders, Dayton Loader and the conveyors.  There are

thirteen stop buttons and thirteen start buttons on the tuber.  They are located at the end of each mill,

on each drive, on the Dayton Loader, on the feed conveyor and the extruder.   The control box for

the take away conveyor is located on the right side of the mill.  The control box for the Dayton

Loader is located on the left side of the mill.  The reset box for the belly bar is located under the

Dayton Loader control box.   ( Tr.2351-52; 2419-66; Exhs. 2B1, C-135)
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Rubber jam ups occur at various points of the tuber and the Dayton Loader.  Depending on

the severity of the jams, it may take up to two hours to unjam the tuber.  Rubber is often jammed on

the first roll leading to the Dayton Loader and at the roll where it is dropped into the mills stalling

the loader or causing the motor to overload.  Jams on the Dayton Loader occur a couple of times a

week.  To unjam the loader, the mill attendant hits the stop button and cuts the rubber out with a

knife as the mill operator runs the belt backwards.  Mill attendants also stand on top of the mill roll

to unjam the Dayton Loader.  In order to stop the mill roll, the belly bar is actuated.  Mill attendants

use their left hand to pull the conveyor belt down as they cut with their right hand.  After the loader

is unjammed, the belly bar is pulled back into place, the safety is reset and the tuber is activated.

(Tr. 2348-72)  The Secretary asserts that mill attendants are exposed to the hazard of unexpected

energization when unjamming the Dayton Loader which could result in crushing injuries to the hand.

Rubber also adheres to the serrated roller and jams the mill rolls.  To unjam the mill rolls,

a mill attendant cuts across one of the serrations of the mill roll.  Next, the mill attendants partially

peel off the sheet of rubber roll by hand.  The mill operator jogs the mill roll on one side of the mill

as two mill attendants knock the rubber off with flat metal tip poles on the other side of the mill.

The mill attendants hit the belly bar as the mill operator jogs the mill roll to prevent it from over

rotating.  (Tr. 2373-76)  Some mill attendants roll the rubber by hand.  (Tr. 2423-27) The Secretary

asserts that if the mill roll unexpectedly energized while employees’ hands were on the roll, they

would sustain burns or crushing injuries.

Finally, rubber jams occur in the extruder hopper.  Rubber tends to stick to the auger which

is located inside the hopper.  Mill attendants either physically pull the rubber out of the augers while

it is still operating or turn the machine off and use a pry bar.  To pull the rubber out, the mill

attendant reaches into the hopper and down to the auger.  One employee testified that his hands were

approximately 3 inches away from the moving auger when removing the rubber.  If the rubber was

severed, the mill attendants would hit the stop button and use a pry bar to remove the rubber.  Once

the rubber is cleared out, the auger is activated by hitting the start button.  (Tr. 2394-97, 2500-01)

The Secretary asserts that employees are exposed to the hazard of being pulled into the auger or

having their arm amputated by the auger while it is operating or unexpectedly energized during the

unjamming process.
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Respondent has no written procedures which employees are required to follow during the

unjamming process on the Dayton Loader, mills and extruders.  Respondent’s safe operating

procedures for the Tubing Department during the period of inspection did not specify which tools

to use in unjamming.  Employees are trained by fellow employees in the Tubing Department when

assigned to that department and are not required to utilize LOTO procedures when unjamming

rubber.  (Tr. 2377, 2384, 2391-92, 2397, 2486, 2502-03)

Discussion

Respondent disputes the applicability of the standard to the cited job tasks.  It contends that

unjamming activities on Dayton Loader and the tuber are not service and maintenance activities as

defined by the standard.  Assuming that the standard is applicable, Respondent argues that these

cited job tasks fall within the minor servicing exception which is defined as unjamming activities

that are minor, routine, repetitive and integral to the production process.  See footnote 5 supra.

Respondent argues that minor unjamming activities are performed by the employees, whereas, major

unjamming activities are performed by Ogden Allied, the service and maintenance contractor.  

The LOTO standard covers service and maintenance in which unexpected energization of

equipment could cause injury to employees.  See footnote 4 supra.  The Secretary has established

that the standard applies to the unjamming activities on the tuber and the Dayton Loader.

Unjamming and removing rubber from the mills, the extruders and the Dayton Loader clearly falls

within the definition of service and maintenance which covers unjamming of machines or equipment

where employees are exposed to unexpected energization.  See footnote 7 supra.  Although Dayton

Tire argues that these activities are minor, they do not fall within the minor servicing exception

standard because the tuber is not engaged in production during the removal of the rubber jam ups.

(Tr. 2487-90)

The evidence supports the finding that mill operators,  mill attendants and BEI attendants

were exposed to the hazard of being pulled into the mills and extruders, or sustaining crushing

injuries from pinch points.  Specifically, during the unjamming of the Dayton Loader, employees’

hands were inches away from the moving parts of the machine.  If the Dayton Loader accidentally

started up during the unjamming, an employee’s right hand could be caught between the rolls

resulting in a broken hand.  In the event that the Dayton Loader unexpectedly started in reverse, the

employee’s left hand would be caught and sustain possible crushing injuries to the fingers or a
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broken wrist.  (Tr. 2371)  Further, employees were exposed to the unexpected start up of the mill

roll while standing on it to unjam the Dayton Loader.  Employee testimony established that in the

event that the mill unexpectedly started, the employee could be pulled into and crushed between the

mill rolls.  (Tr. 2372)  Finally, employees were exposed to the auger’s point of operation which

could result in crushing injuries or amputation of the hand.  Specifically, employees were exposed

to the spinning auger as they pull the rubber from the extruder hopper.  One employee testified that

on one occasion his hands were approximately 3 inches from the moving auger as he attempted to

remove the jammed rubber and his glove was pulled into the auger.  Fortunately, his hands were not

pulled into the auger and he was able to pull the safety rope to stop the machine.   (Tr. 2507)

Testimony revealed that employees were exposed to unexpected energization of the mills,

extruders and the Dayton Loader because another employee could accidentally or unexpectedly hit

a start button during the unjamming process.  (Tr. 2482-84, 5259)  Given the size of tuber and the

number of  employees (4 or 5) operating it, there is risk that one of the employees could

inadvertently activate the machine while another is in the zone of danger.  The Dayton Loader, the

mills and extruders move instantaneously upon being energized leaving the employees little or no

time to leave the zone of danger or to remove their hands from the points of operation.  The evidence

supports the conclusion that employees were exposed to serious injury or death during these

unjamming activities and the employer knew or with the exercise of reasonable diligence could have

known of the violation.  For the foregoing reasons, the Complainant has met his burden of proof and

the violation as to the aforesaid Tread Tuber and Dayton Loader is affirmed.

The Secretary alleges that this violation is “willful” within the meaning of the Act.  As

discussed above, a willful violation is defined as “intentional disregard” or “plain indifference”

towards the standard.  With regard to the Tread Tuber and the Dayton Loader, the facts support a

finding that Dayton Tire did not have a heighten awareness that it was violating the standard for the

reasons stated supra at pg. 25-26 and footnote 12 supra.  Moreover, Respondent was not placed on

noticed of this violation by the “Des Moines” citation.   A serious violation, however, exists if there

is a substantial probability that death or serious physical harm could result from a condition which

exists unless the employer did not, and could not with the exercise of reasonable diligence, know

of the presence of the violation.  29 CFR § 666(k) supra.  The Secretary does not have to prove that

there is a substantial probability that an accident will occur, but rather that death or serious physical
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harm could occur.  See East Texas Motor Freight, Inc. supra; Bethlehem Steel Corp. supra.  The

evidence supports the conclusion that failure to implement LOTO procedures when unjamming the

tuber and the Dayton Loader could cause serious physical injuries such as broken bones, amputation

or being pulled into the equipment resulting in death.  Moreover, for the reasons stated supra pg. 41,

this item was tried as an alleged serious violation by the implied consent of the parties.  See Dye

Construction Co., 6 BNA OSHC 1685 (1985).  This item is amended pursuant to Rule 15(b) of the

Federal Rules of Civil Procedure to reflect a serious violation of the standard cited.  The citation as

amended is affirmed.

Item 5 Banbury

Item 5 of Citation I reads as follows:

29 C.F.R. § 1910.147(c)(4)(i):  Procedures were not developed, documented
and utilized for the control of potentially hazardous energy when employees were
engaged in activities covered by this section: At the plant[,] a documented procedure
to control potential hazardous energy for each type of machine was not being used
by employees unjamming mixers and feed belts.

This alleged violation relates to the activities of employees engaged in the operation of the

first and second floor Banbury.  During the period of inspection, Respondent’s Oklahoma plant

contained three banburys known as 271, 272 and 273.  The banburys are basically the same.  (Tr.

1921, 1943-44) The Banbury Department mixes pigments and raw rubber together to produce slabs

of rubber to be processed into treads and sidewalls in the Tubing Department.  (Tr.5669-70)

Background

Banbury is electrically, hydraulically, and pneumatically energized.  (Tr.1982)  It occupies

three floors and consists of the following equipment.  On the third floor, pigment is measured and

weighed and sent down a chute to the second floor mixer.  Pigment bins are either automatic or

manual.  Dayton Loaders, weight and charge conveyor belts and mixers are located on the second

floor.  Skids of re-mill (previously mixed) rubber are fed through the Dayton Loader which consist

of a series of conveyors and a knife.  Rubber is then transferred onto the weigh conveyor belt and

is cut by the Dayton Loader knife once it reaches the pre-programed weight.  The charge conveyor

belt takes the cut re-mill rubber to the mixer.   If master batch rubber is being used then seventy to

ninety pound bags of raw rubber are loaded directly onto the weigh belt bypassing the Dayton

Loader.   From the mixer, the rubber drops down a chute to the first floor auger.  In addition to the
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auger, the roller die, slitter knife, soap tank and festoons are located on the first floor banbury.  Rams

push the rubber through the auger screw to the roller die which is made up of two mill rolls about

5-6 feet long and 3-5 feet in diameter which flatten out the rubber.  The roller dies can be

hydraulically raised and lowered.  (Tr. 2230; Exh. C-153)  The auger and roller die are located in

a pit.  The roller die take away conveyor belt takes the rubber to the slitter knife, where it cuts the

rubber into slabs.  The slabs of rubber are sent through a soap tank and then travel on the chain

conveyor belt to two sets of festoons where it is draped between bars and dried by cooling fans.  A

festoon is made up of a series of bars six inches apart and configured in an oval.  (Tr.1925-29, 1964-

70, 2033, 2118, 2131, 2186-93; Exh. C-133)

The actual number of employees overseeing the banbury operations is not clear from the

record.  On the third floor, compounders measure and weigh the pigments and monitor the manual

pigment bins.  Belt loaders and lead belt loaders monitor the speed of the belts and the mixer on the

second floor.  Depending on the type of rubber used, they either feed re-mill rubber through the

Dayton Loader or directly load bags of raw rubber onto the weight belt for master batch rubber.

(Tr.1972)  Transfer mixer attendants (T-mixers) monitor the operations on first floor banbury.  They

control the speed of the auger, roller die, and the conveyors as it takes the rubber slabs through the

slitter knife, soap tank and the festoons to ensure that production runs smoothly.  Belt loaders are

required to remove jams on the second floor and T-mixers are required to clear jams on the first

floor banbury.  Belt loaders and wigwags assist T-mixers with severe jams on the first floor.

(Tr.1923, 2033, 2188, 2113-20) For the purposes of this discussion, there are at least three

employees that monitor the first and second floor banbury:  the lead belt loader, belt loader and T-

mixer. 

The Dayton Loader control panel is located on the side of the loader and contains nine

buttons which include the power button, start button and other controls.  (Tr.2088, 2109; Exhs. 2A2,

C-127, C-163) The T-mixer control panel located at the end of the roller die controls the speed of

the rams, auger, roller die take away belt, chain belt, stitcher wheel (which secures the rubber on the

festoon bars) and coolant fans.  The T-mixer can stop the entire production process on the first and

second floor banbury by engaging the on/off switch on the control panel.  However, activating the

stop button on the control panel does not shut down the Dayton Loader on the second floor.  Another
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control panel for first floor operations is located near the festoon area.18   (Tr.2119-21, 2144-46,

2178; Exh. C-133)  

Banbury operations on the first and second floors are either enclosed, guarded or equipped

with safety ropes. The Dayton Loader knife is in the loader and is surrounded by a guard.

Operations from the second floor mixer to the first floor roller die are enclosed except for the area

where the rubber comes out between the rolls.  Safety ropes are strung around the Dayton Loader,

mixer,  weigh belt and charge belt on the second floor.  The skid shifter which feeds rubber into the

rear of the Dayton Loader is also surrounded by safety ropes.  A mesh wire area holds the empty

skids.  (Exh. 2A7)  On the first floor, safety ropes run from the roller die along the conveyor system

to the festoon area.  Pinch points are located between the rolls of the roller die, the soap tank and

chain belt, the chain belt and the festoons.  There are no guards around the roller die or the festoons.

(Tr.1964, 2134, 2209-18, 2258-80; Exh. C-133)

During the banbury production process, rubber accumulates or jams up at the Dayton Loader,

roller die, slitter knife, soap tank and festoons.  On the first floor, rubber jams occur at the rear of

the Dayton Loader where slabs of rubber are fed in and at the top of the loader where the rolls are

located near the knife area.  To unjam the rear of the Dayton Loader, the belt loader, with the

assistance of the lead belt loader, pulls the safety rope and uses a mill knife to cut the rubber across

the length of the rolls.  (Tr.1976-80) The Secretary asserts that employees are exposed to the nip

point between the conveyor and rollers which could result in injuries ranging from crushing or

degloving (skin removal) to amputation of the hand if the Dayton Loader unexpectedly energized

when unjamming  the back of the loader.

In order to remove a rubber jam at the top of the loader, the belt loader pulls the safety, hits

the emergency stop button, climbs onto a bale cutter (“S” marked on Exh. 2A6) and stands on top

of the Dayton Loader (“T” marked on Exh. 2A6) to cut the rubber from the rolls of the loader.  The

bale cutter is a bench on wheels that cuts rubber.  The belt loader uses a mill knife and a hay hook

to remove the jam.  There is no guard or obstruction where the conveyor drops the rubber down to

the knife in the Dayton Loader.  The belt loader’s hands are approximately a foot from the knife.

Depending on the severity of the jam, the belt loader will climb up and down the Dayton Loader a
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number of times to pull the rubber out and to jog the belt in reverse until the jam is cleared.  Each

time the belt loader climbs up or down, he has to reactivate or deactivate the loader.  (Tr.1974-2009;

Exhs. 2A2-2A6) The Secretary asserts that employees are exposed to the unexpected energization

of the Dayton Loader when unjamming the top of the loader which could result in broken bones or

a concussion from falling off the side of the loader.  The Secretary also asserts that employees could

be pulled into the Dayton Loader knife area and suffer amputation.

Rubber accumulates at the roller die which is located in a pit on the first floor approximately

40-50 feet from the T-mixer control panel.  Rubber backs up into the roller die because the roller

die take away conveyor hesitates, causing the rubber to pile up.  To unjam the roller die, the T-mixer

turns the power off at the T-mixer control panel and pulls the safety rope.  The T-mixer stands next

to the roller die take away conveyor in the pit and reaches across the belt to unjam the rubber.  The

belt loader cuts and pulls the rubber from the rolls using a mill knife and hay hook.  If the jam is

severe then the T-mixer climbs onto the conveyor belt to remove the rubber from the rolls.

Occasionally, the T-mixer or the belt loader raises the rolls up to pull the rubber out from

underneath.  (Tr.2033-40, 2081-82, 2141-47)  The Secretary contends that employees  are exposed

to the pinch points of the rolls and could sustain injuries such as degloving, crushing or amputation.

Rubber jams occur under the slitter knife because the roller die is ragged or cold.  In order

to unjam the slitter knife, the T-mixer turns the power off and hits the stop button at the control

panel.  The T-mixer pulls the safety rope and removes the rubber with a mill knife or hay hook.  For

a severe jam, the T-mixer climbs onto the conveyor belt and lifts the knife to clear the jam.  The T-

mixer’s hands are inches from the knife and sometimes touches it when unjamming the rubber.

(Tr.2046-48, 2153-55)  The Secretary asserts that employees are exposed to the unexpected

energization of the slitter knife which could result in crushed or amputated fingers.

Rubber sticks and builds up underneath the belts between the soap tank and the chain belt

resulting in a jam.  In order to unjam the point where the soap tank belt transfers to the chain belt,

the T-mixer turns the power off and hits the stop button on the control panel.  He engages the safety

rope and removes the rubber from the side of the conveyor.  If the jam is severe, the T-mixer climbs

onto the chain belt which is approximately three feet above the ground to remove the rubber between

the two conveyor belts.  (Tr. 2041, 2155-58) The Secretary alleges that the employee could be
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caught between the pinch points of the belts and the rollers and sustain crushing injuries or broken

bones if the conveyors unexpectedly energized.

Finally, rubber jams occur at the end of chain belt at the festoon drop off area.  The chain

conveyor belt drops half of the rubber slabs over the first set of festoon bars and transfers the other

half to the second set of festoon bars.  Rubber from the chain belt occasionally hits the top of the

first set of festoons and wraps around the chain belt.  In order to remove the jam, the T-mixer pulls

the safety rope and climbs onto the catwalk to cut the rubber out from in between the belts.  If the

T-mixer cannot reach the rubber from the catwalk, he climbs onto the conveyor belt to straighten

out the slabs so that they drape between the festoon bars. (Tr.2042, 2048-50, 2159-62) The Secretary

asserts that employees are exposed to the hazard of unexpected energization of the festoons which

could result in crushing injuries from the stitcher wheel.

 Respondent has no written procedures which employees are required to follow to unjam the

various parts of the banbury.  Banbury employees are not trained at the authorized level or required

to lockout the equipment when clearing a jam.  Belt loaders and T-mixers are trained to operate  and

unjam the banbury by fellow employees when they first start.  (Tr.1981, 2050, 2276)

Discussion

 The Respondent disputes the applicability of the standard to the unjamming activities on the

banbury.  Dayton Tire argues that unjamming the Dayton Loader, the roller die, slitter knife, the area

between the soap tank and the chain belt, and the festoons are not service and maintenance activities

as defined by the standard.  See footnote 7 supra.  Even if the LOTO standard is applicable,

Respondent argues that these unjamming activities occur only during normal production operation

and thus, fall within the minor servicing exception which is defined as unjamming activities that are

minor, routine, repetitive and integral to the production process so long as alternative safety provide

effective protection.  See footnote 5 supra.  Finally, Dayton Tire states that Ogden Allied services

severe jams that halt production on the banbury.

The Secretary has established that the LOTO standard applies to the unjamming activities

on the first and second floors of the banbury.  See footnote 4 supra.  Unjamming and removing

rubber from the Dayton Loader, roller die, slitter knife, between the soap tank and chain belt, and

the festoons constitute service and maintenance.  See footnote 7 supra.  Although Dayton Tire

argues that these activities are minor, they do not fall within the minor servicing exception standard
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because the banbury is not engaged in production during the unjamming process.  Safety ropes and

emergency buttons are not alternative means of protection to LOTO.  Safety ropes and emergency

buttons can malfunction or be reset and will not prevent someone from unexpectedly starting up the

banbury.  The record shows that safety ropes have failed to deactivate the machine when pulled on

the first and second floor banbury.  (Tr.2198-2202, 2227, 2240-41)

The evidence supports the finding that banbury employees were exposed to the hazards of

unexpected energization of the Dayton Loader, roller die, the area between the soap tank and chain

belt, and the festoons in the banbury when unjamming rubber.  The record shows that employees

unjamming the Dayton Loader could sustain crushing injuries from the pinch points between the

rolls and conveyor.  Specifically, during the unjamming of the Dayton Loader, employees’ hands

were inches away from the moving parts of the machine.  If the Dayton Loader accidentally started

up during the unjamming, the employee’s right hand would be caught around the roll which could

result in a broken hand.  If the Dayton Loader accidentally started in reverse, the employee’s left

hand would get caught and the employee would sustain crushing injuries to the fingers or a broken

wrist.  (Tr. 2371) With respect to unjamming the top of the loader, employees’ hands could be

caught between pinch points or under the knife and sustain serious injury.  Further, employees could

fall of the Dayton Loader if it unexpectedly energized when unjamming and sustain serious physical

harm.

In addition, if the roller die unexpectedly started up when employees were unjamming it,

they could be pulled under the unguarded bottom roll and the scraper blades sustaining severe cuts

or crushing injuries to the hand.  (Tr. 2167, 2241-43)  Employees were exposed to the hazards of

having their hands severely cut or amputated by the slitter knife if it accidentally descended during

the unjamming process.  (Tr. 2284)  While unjamming the area between the soap tank and the chain

belt, employees were exposed to the pinch point created by the soap tank belt circling back around

the chain belt which could result in a mangle or broken arm. Employees were also exposed to the

pinch point created by the belts in the festoons and could sustain serious hand injuries.  (Tr. 2285)

Although there is no testimony that the Dayton Loader or the slitter knife has unexpectedly

energized during unjamming activities, the record shows that the Dayton Loader has unexpectedly

cycled without explanation. (Tr. 2228)  Employee testimony reveal that the banbury has

unexpectedly energized while employees were unjamming the roller die, the area between the soap
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tank and chain belt and festoons.  With regard to unjamming the roller die, maintenance has  reset

the safety and accidentally energized the banbury while a T-mixer was unjamming the rolls in the

pit.  An individual at the T-mixer control panel cannot see the T-mixer in the pit.  (Tr. 2164-67) 

In another incident, an individual reset the safety and accidentally started the banbury while a T-

mixer was unjamming the area between the soap tank and the chain belt.  Only the T-mixer’s knees

could be seen from the T-mixer control panel since he was under the exhaust hood trying to unjam

the rubber. (Tr. 2170-76)  On two occasions, the banbury unexpectedly energized while employees

were unjamming the festoons.  In the first incident, maintenance reset the safety and unexpectedly

energized the banbury while the T-mixer was removing a rubber jam in the festoons.  An individual

standing at the T-mixer control panel cannot see the festoons.  In the second incident, an employee

accidentally started the banbury when a supervisor was standing on the belt in the festoons.  (Tr.

2178-85)  Given the fact that the banbury consist of three floors and at least three employees

monitoring the first and second floor banbury operations, there is risk that someone will

inadvertently reset the safeties and activate the machine while an employee is in the zone of danger.

(Tr. 2272-74) The banbury moves upon being energized leaving the employees little or no time to

leave the zone of danger or to remove their hands from the points of operation.

The facts establish that Dayton Tire failed to implement the required LOTO procedures

during unjamming activities on the first and second floors of banbury 271, 272, and 273. Employees

were exposed to unexpected energization of the banbury while unjamming the Dayton Loader, roller

die, area between the soap tank and chain belt and the festoons on said machines.  For the foregoing

reasons, the Complainant has met his burden of proof and the violation as to the aforesaid banburys

is affirmed.

A willful violation is defined as “intentional disregard” or “plain indifference” toward the

standard.  See Willful Analysis Section supra pg. 22.  The facts support a finding that the

Respondent had a heighten awareness that banbury employees unjamming operations on the first

and second floors were exposed to the hazard of unexpected startups of the machine since

Respondent received notice that the Banbury Department was cited in the Des Moines, Iowa citation

for failure to implement LOTO procedures.  Based on the evidence, Respondent did not take any

measures to protect their employees from unexpected energization of the banbury in light of the Des
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Moines citation; therefore, the violation as found above constitutes a willful violation within the

meaning of the Act.

Item 6 Module Machine

Item 6 of the Citation reads as follows:

29 CFR 1910.147(c)(4)(i): Procedures were not developed and
utilized for the control of potentially hazardous energy when
employees were engaged in activities covered by this section:
At the plant[,] a documented procedure to control potential hazardous
energy for each type of machine was not being used by employees
installing parts and unjamming module machines.

A module machine is approximately twenty-five yards long, eight feet wide and sixteen feet

high and consists of three sections; a tire uniformity optimizer (TUO), a white side wall grinder and

a side wall painter.  There are 21 module machines at the Oklahoma City location.  As implied by

its name, the tire uniformity optimizer ensures that each tire passing through the machine is of the

same size; the white side wall grinder removes the black rubber veneer covering the white side walls

of the tire and the painter paints the side walls.  The Secretary alleges that employees operating the

module machine are exposed to serious injury or death if the machine becomes unexpectedly

energized while (1) unjamming tires that become jammed at any point along their passage through

the machine, (2) when installing grinding stones, dust scoops and brake pads in the white side wall

grinder and (3) when changing the chuck on the white side wall grinder.

The record reveals that tires are fed into one end of the machine on a conveyor belt and enter

the TUO.  Upon exiting the TUO each tire proceeds by conveyor belt to the white wall grinder and

thence to the painter.  The tire is then ejected from the machine via conveyor belt.  Employee

testimony established that tires occasionally become “jammed,” that is, the progress of the tire

through the machine operation is impeded because stop pins fail to operate properly or photo eyes

become obstructed.  Tires also become jammed in the “chuck” mechanism of the white side wall

grinder, and the TUO (mischucks).  Upon the occurrence of a jam, the operator places the machine

in “manual” mode thereby stopping the machine’s movement although the machine remains

energized (electrical, pneumatic and hydraulic).  The tire causing the jam is removed by the operator

by hand or with a metal hook and the machine is activated in the automatic mode thus resuming

normal production.  The operator’s hands are in close proximately to moving parts such as the
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grinding stones and the top and bottom chucks when unjamming tires in the white side wall grinder

and the chucks in the TUO.  The employees are exposed to severe lacerations to the hands and arms

while unjamming tires in the TUO and the white side wall grinder in the event that the machine is

unexpectedly turned on.  Several employees testified that they personally experienced “near-misses”

when the module machine was unexpectedly activated by other employees while engaged in

unjamming tires.  Based upon the evidence, it is concluded that Respondent’s employees were

exposed to serious injury while engaged in unjamming tires in the TUO and the white side wall

grinder and Respondent failed to institute appropriate LOTO procedures, as alleged, to protect

employees from injury in the event of unexpected energization of the machine.  Moreover, the

unjamming activities did not occur during normal production; that is, the machines were placed in

the manual mode and were not engaged in the production process during unjamming.  Contrary to

Respondent’s assertion, the employees were not engaged in “minor servicing” activities and,

therefore, exempt from the requirements of the LOTO standard.  See footnote 5 supra.  The record

clearly establishes that employees were exposed to injury while unjamming tires and that exposure

could be eliminated by instituting lockout procedures.  

Employees were also exposed to serious injury while changing the grinding stones, dust

scoops, brake pads and the chucks in the white side wall grinder.  The chucks must be changed

whenever a different size tire is processed through the machine.  The grinding stones, dust scoops

and brake pads must be replaced when they become worn.  Each of these activities exposes the

machine operator to moving parts in the event that the machine is unexpectedly energized.  The

grinding stone is a round disk with a sandpaper like edge which rotates at high speeds to remove the

rubber from the white side walls.  Over time, the disk wears down and must be replaced.  In order

to remove and replace the grinding stone, the operator must place his or her hands on the stone.

Activation of the stone at this point of the removal and replacement process would result in severe

injuries to the operator’s hands.  In addition, the operator’s hands and arms are in close proximately

to the grinding stone while changing the brake pads and the dust scoops.  Similarly, the employees

are exposed to severe injury to arms and hands in the event that the grinding stone is activated

during the replacement of dust scoops and brake pads.

The chuck in the white side wall grinder consists of two rotating steel cylinders.  The lower

chuck which the tire sits upon raises the tire to the top rotating chuck in order for the grinding stone
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to perform its rubber removal function.  During a chuck change, the operator places the machine in

the manual mode and removes the screws holding the top and bottom chucks in place.  The chucks

are than manually removed by the operator.  This process requires the employee to place his or her

hands directly on the perimeter of the chucks.  In the event that the machine became energized at

this point, the operator would be exposed to the spinning motion of the chucks as well as the upward

motion of the bottom chuck to the top chuck thus exposing the employee to severe injury to the

arms, hands and fingers including amputation.

Several employees testified as to their personal experiences regarding the energization of the

module machine while engaged in changing chucks, grinding stones, dust scoops and brake pads as

well as when unjamming tires.  In each instance, the employee was exposed to the unexpected

movement of the machine.  (Tr. 276-79, 283, 305-06, 371-75, 440-41, 459-60, 483, 547-48, 557-58,

737-38, 750, 775-84, 854-59, 911-12, 937-38, 990-93, 1013-14, 1122-23, 1483-84, 1524, 1779-80)

The record is replete with instances wherein employees were exposed to the unexpected movement

of the machine while engaged in the activities described above.

In response to this evidence, Respondent asserts that the tasks were accomplished during

normal production operations and were minor, routine, repetitive and integral to the production

process.  Respondent’s arguments are not persuasive.  The massive amount of evidence presented

by the Secretary clearly established that Respondent’s employees were exposed to the precise

hazards that the standard was intended to eliminate.  Moreover, the work activities were

accomplished when the machine was not producing anything.  Thus, the work activities were not

performed during normal production operations and therefore exempt from the standard as alleged

by the Respondent. 

Although this item is alleged to be a “willful” violation, the Secretary has failed to establish

that Respondent intentionally disregarded or was plainly indifferent to the LOTO standard as it

applied to the module machine.  Furthermore, Respondent did not have a “heightened awareness”

of its obligations to comply with the LOTO requirements for the module as a result of the “Des

Moines” citation.  The facts do support a finding of a serious violation within the meaning of the Act

and, for the reasons stated supra at pg. 41 this item was tried as an alleged serious violation by the

implied consent of the parties.  Accordingly, this item is amended pursuant to Rule 15(b) of the
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The Secretary declined to issue this citation on an instance by instance basis.  There is no explanation as to

why this was cited as a single item rather than on a machine type basis (items 1 - 6) or on an individual employee basis

similar to the “failure to train” violations.  See Hartford Roofing infra.
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Federal Rules of Civil Procedure to reflect a serious violation of the cited standard and the citation

as amended, is affirmed.

Item 7 Failure To Issue Equipment

Item 7 of the Citation reads as follows:

29 CFR 1910.147(c)(5)(i): Locks, tags, chains, wedges, key blocks,
adapter pins, self locking fasteners, or other hardware were not
provided by the employer for isolating, securing, or blocking of
machines or equipment from energy sources:

At the plant[,] the employer did not provide the necessary protective
materials and hardware such as locks, tags, chains, etc., for
attachment to energy isolating devices in the following operations:
a) Employees setting up tire assembly machines.
b) Employees setting up bead forming machines.
c) Employees setting up curing presses and cleaning doper machines.
d) Employees unjamming mills and extruders.
e) Employees unjamming mixers and feed belts.
f) Employees installing parts and unjamming modules machines.

The Secretary alleges that Respondent failed to provide employees with the necessary

equipment to implement the LOTO procedures required to be instituted pursuant to section

147(c)(4)(i) for items 1-6 supra.19  Respondent does not dispute this point.  In fact, Respondent

asserts, in essence, that there was no need to provide the materials to employees because it believed,

in good faith, that  LOTO procedures were not required for the activities listed above.  Thus, to

provide the materials to employees would only constitute an unnecessary act.  As discussed above,

however, the Secretary has demonstrated, by a preponderance of the evidence, that LOTO

procedures including providing the necessary equipment to employees were required for the

activities described.  Moreover, the failure to institute the procedures and provide the required

materials exposed employees to a substantial probability that death or serious physical harm could

result.

Respondent argues vigorously that this violation, if supported by the evidence, was not

willful in nature for the reasons set forth at pg. 22 supra (Willful Discussion).  However, based upon
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the “Des Moines” citation, Respondent had a heightened awareness of the need to institute LOTO

procedures for the tire assembly machines (item 7(a)), the curing presses (item 7(c)) and the banbury

(item 7(e)).  Accordingly, the failures to provide necessary protective materials and equipment to

employees engaged in the aforesaid work activities are affirmed as willful violations.

The Secretary has established, however, that the work activities performed by Respondent’s

employees as described in items 7(b), &(d) and 7(e) of the citation exposed those employees to

serious physical harm or death.  Moreover, this item was tried as a serious violation within the

meaning of the Act with the implied consent of the parties.  Supra pg. 41.  Accordingly, items 7(b),

7(d), 7(f) and the doper machine (item 7(c)) of the citation and complaint are amended pursuant to

Rule 15(b) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure to allege serious violations of the Act and the

citation and complaint, as amended, are affirmed.

Items 8(a) Failure to Inspect and 8(b) Failure to Certify Inspection

Items 8(a) and 8(b) of the Citation read as follows:

(a) 29 CFR 1910.147(c)(6)(i): The employer did not conduct an
annual or more frequent inspection of the energy control procedure
to ensure that the procedure and requirements of this standard were
followed:

At the plant[,] periodic inspections were not performed at least
annually in order to verify and to ensure that the energy control
program was being properly utilized in the following operations:
a) Employees setting up the tire assembly machine.
b) Employees setting up bead forming machines.
c) Employees setting up curing presses and cleaning doper machines.
d) Employees unjamming mills and extruders.
e) Employees unjamming mixers and feed belts.
f) Employees installing parts and unjamming modules machines.

(b) 29 CFR 1910.147(c)(6)(ii): The employer had not certified that
periodic inspections of the energy control procedures had been
performed.

At the plant[,] the employer failed to certify that the periodic
inspections were performed at least annually in order to verify and to
ensure that the energy control program was being properly utilized in
the following operations:
a) Employees setting up the tire assembly machines.
b) Employees setting up bead forming machines.
c) Employees setting up curing presses and cleaning doper machines.
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d) Employees unjamming mills and extruders.
e) Employees unjamming mixers and feed belts.
f) Employees installing parts and unjamming modules machines.

As previously stated, Respondent acknowledges that it did not institute LOTO procedures

for the machines and work activities listed above.  Thus, Complainant has cited Respondent for

failing to conduct periodic inspections of a non existent energy control procedure as well as its

failure to certify that the inspections were performed.

There is evidence in the record that Respondent’s safety managers, Mr. McCowan and Ms.

Mattocks, at various times reviewed the existing procedures regarding the applicability of the LOTO

standard to the work activities performed by Dayton Tire employees.  Mr. McCowan first became

safety and plant manager in 1972 and served in that capacity until 1990.  (Tr. 4411)  He is familiar

with the operations of each machine relevant to this matter and authored the safe operating

procedure for each machine.  (Tr. 4426)  He reviewed each type of machine and the work activities

relevant to this litigation during early 1990 shortly after the LOTO standard had been promulgated

and concluded that the standard was not applicable to those work activities because, in his view, all

of the activities were performed during normal production and exempt from the standard.  (Tr. 4414,

4458)  He also conducted safety “walk throughs and reviews” of each department on a monthly

basis.  (Tr. 4446)  In addition, Mr. McCowan’s successor, Ms. Mattocks, relied upon Mr.

McCowan’s determination that all service and maintenance functions were performed by Ogden

Allied personnel and Dayton employees were engaged solely in production work.  However, upon

being alerted by Industrial Hygienist Kearney that LOTO procedures may be applicable to some

work activities performed by Dayton employees, Ms. Mattocks contacted production supervisors

and foremen to determine whether any job functions performed by Dayton employees had changed

since McCowan’s evaluation.  After receiving a negative response, Ms. Mattocks concluded that Ms.

Kearney’s observations were incorrect.  All of this leads to the conclusion that safety procedures

were being reviewed regularly by Mr. McCowan and Ms. Mattocks.  Those reviews confirmed the

initial, but erroneous, conclusion that the LOTO standard was not applicable to the work performed

by Dayton employees.  The Secretary apparently takes the position that the required inspections, if

conducted properly, should have revealed the need to apply LOTO procedures to the work activities

in question.  To the extent that the inspections failed to reveal that requirement, in the context of this
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The failure to train violations are set forth at items 9 through 106 of the original complaint.  Complainant

added one additional failure to train violation (item 108) and deleted the violations set forth at items 13, 18, 31, 49, 84,

88 and 89.
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case, the citation is affirmed.  Moreover, the failure of the inspections to reveal the need for the

application of the LOTO standard exposed employees to a substantial probability that death or

serious physical harm could result.  Thus, the evidence supports a serious violation of the standard.

The record does not, however, support a finding that Respondent willfully violated the

standard as alleged.  It is clear that Respondent’s safety personnel were regularly and routinely

inspecting and reviewing safety procedures and practices in the Oklahoma City plant.  The

requirements of the LOTO standard were reviewed and evaluated by Mr. McCowan and Ms.

Mattocks.  Although their efforts were not entirely effective or complete, it cannot be said that their

actions justify a finding of willful conduct for this violation notwithstanding the fact that the same

violation was cited at the Des Moines location.   See Williams Enterprises, Inc., 1986-87 CCH

OSHD ¶ 27, 893; Secretary of Labor v. General Motors Corp., Electro-Motive Div., 14 BNA OSHC

2064 (1991); Secretary of Labor v. Keco Industries, Inc., 13 BNA OSHC 1161 (1987).

With respect to the failure to certify the results of inspections it is undisputed that

Respondent failed to comply with the provisions of that standard.  There is no evidence, however,

that Respondent’s failure to comply with the standard exposed employees to serious physical harm

or death.  Accordingly, this subitem is affirmed as an other than serious violation.  For the reasons

stated above, there is no basis for concluding that the violation was willful as alleged.

Citation I, 92 items

29 C.F.R. 1910.147(c)(7)(i): The employer failed to train each
authorized employee with respect to all training elements listed under
Item (A) of this section specifically training in the recognition of
applicable hazardous energy sources the type and magnitude of
energy available in the workplace, and/or the methods and means
necessary for isolation control. 

The Secretary alleges that Respondent failed to train 92 employees20 engaged, as part of their

work activities, in the service and maintenance of the machines and equipment discussed supra

(Items 1-6 of the complaint) at the “authorized” level.  See footnote 9 supra.  Respondent agrees that
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Respondent argues that seventeen of the training violations should be vacated on the ground that the

employees named in those items failed to testify.  The stipulations establish, how ever, that all of the named employees

were employed in work activities which exposed employees to the hazards described above.  Secretary of Labor v.

Phoenix Roofing, 17 BNA OSHC  1076 (1995); Secretary of Labor v. Dover Elevator, 16 BNA OSHC  1281 (1993).

Moreover, it is not necessary to obtain the testimony of the exposed employee to establish exposure.  See Anderson v.

Mt. Clemens Pottery Co., 328 U S 680, 66 S . Ct. 1187 (1946); Reich v. Southern Maryland Hospital, Inc., 43 F.3rd 949

(1995).
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the employees listed in the complaint were not provided with training at the authorized level.

Moreover, Respondent conceded that each named employee was assigned to work in one of the job

classifications listed in items 1 through 6 of the complaint.21 See Joint Stipulations supra.

Accordingly, in light of the findings above (items 1 through 6), each of the listed employees should

have been trained at the authorized level prior to engaging in those work activities. Thus, the

aforesaid failure to train violations are affirmed.

Respondent vigorously disagrees with Complainant’s characterization of the violations as

willful.  Respondent argues that it believed in good faith that it had complied with the LOTO

standard.  Moreover, each employee listed in the complaint had received training at the “affected”

level.  See footnote 8 supra.  Thus, according to Respondent, there was no failure to train; at most

there was a failure to provide the proper level of training.  In effect, Respondent argues that it made

a good faith effort to comply even though its efforts were not entirely effective or complete.  See

Williams Enterprise, Inc., 13 BNA OSHC 1249, 1257 (1987); Secretary of Labor v. Woolsten

Construction Co., 15 BNA OSHC 1114, 1119 (1991), aff’d, 15 BNA OSHC 1634 (D.C. Cir. 1992).

Although Respondent provided “affected level” training to its employees, the issue is

whether Respondent intentionally disregarded or was plainly indifferent to its responsibility to

provide employee training at the authorized level.  Respondent has recited a number of grounds in

support of its good faith defense.  See pg. 27-31 supra.  No convincing defense has been offered,

however, for Respondent’s disregard for the Des Moines citation (Exh. C-92), and the notice to

Respondent via that citation that work activities at the Oklahoma City facility may be subject to

LOTO requirements.  As demonstrated above, an analysis of those machines and work activities,

items 1 (TAMS), 3 (curing press) and 5 (Banbury) of the complaint, should have alerted Respondent

of the hazards to which its employees were exposed and the need to provide training at the

authorized level for those employees.  Based upon the record evidence, it is concluded that

Respondent willfully violated the training standard for twenty-one TAM size changers (Items 9, 10,
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11, 27-30, 32-34, 37-40, 45, and 51-56), ten curing press mold, bladder and PCI ring changers (Items

22, 36, 44, 57-63), and two Banbury operators (Items 26 and 50).  See Willful Discussion supra at

pgs. 31-34.  For the reasons stated supra at pg. 41, the remaining training violations are affirmed as

serious violations.

Item 107 Fatal Injury on M6 85 TAM

Item 107 of the Citation reads as follows:

29 CFR 1910.147(d): No orderly application of energy control as
required by this paragraph was utilized on the M6 85 Inline tire
assembly machine during setup operations on October 19, 1993,
which resulted in the unexpected cycling of the machine, fatally
injuring an employee.

As to this item, the Respondent cites 29 CFR 1910.147(d) which reads, in relevant part, as

follows:

The established procedures for the application of energy control (the
lockout or tagout procedures) shall cover the following elements and
actions and should be done in the following sequence:

Following the above language are six numbered subparagraphs listing the actions that must be taken

during a lockout or tagout procedure.  The citation fails to give any notice of which subsection is

being cited or whether some or all of the subsections are cited.  In his posthearing memorandum,

Complainant states without equivocation that Item 107 of the citation cites Respondent for failing

to comply with section 1910.147(d)(2).  (Complainant’s Memorandum at pg. 76)  The citation

clearly does not cite Respondent for violating 1910.147(d)(2) nor has Complainant at any time

sought to amend the citation to reflect that alleged violation.  On the other hand, Respondent has not

objected to the citation as written nor raised the language of the citation as an issue.  The evidence

elicited regarding this item relates to the fatal accident sustained by one of Respondent’s employees

while engaged in the setup of the M-6 TAM machine.  (Tr. 2661-62, 2779-82, 2798, 2814-16, 3248-

49)  Based upon the record, it is concluded that the parties tried the issue of whether Respondent

violated section 1910(d)(2) by consent.  Accordingly, pursuant to Rule 15(b) of the Federal Rules

of Civil Procedure, citation item 107 is amended to allege a violation of section 1910.147(d)(2).
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National Realty and Construction Co. v. OSHRC, 489 F.2d 1257 (D.C. Cir. 1973); John and Ray

Carlstrom, 6 BNA OSHC 2101 (1978); Rodney E. Fossett, 7 BNA OSHC 1915 (1979).

Section 1910.147(d)(2) reads as follows:

    (2)  Machine or equipment shutdown.
The machine or equipment shall be turned off or shut down using the
procedures established for the machine or equipment.  An orderly
shutdown must be utilized to avoid any additional or increased
hazard(s) to employees as a result of the equipment stoppage.

This item alleges that Respondent failed to shutdown the machine using established

procedures for the machine and to insure an orderly shutdown of the machine.  The citation implies

that LOTO procedures for the machine were in existence for the M-6 machine and Respondent failed

to follow those established procedures.  The record clearly establishes, however, that Respondent

had no LOTO procedures for any of the TAM machines at the time of the inspection.  Thus, the

violation is Respondent’s failure to have established LOTO procedures in the first instance.

Respondent has been cited for that violation and that citation has been affirmed.   Supra pg. 21.

Since Respondent  failed to establish LOTO procedures in accordance with 1910.147(c)(4) for the

M-6 TAM machine, this item is further amended pursuant to Rule 15(b) of the Federal Rules of Civil

Procedure to reflect a violation of that standard and incorporated as an additional violation under

item 1 of the citation.  For the reasons stated supra at 41, this item, as amended, is affirmed as a

willful violation.

Instance By Instance Citation (Egregious)

The citation initiating this action was issued to Respondent, in large part, pursuant to

Complainant’s so called “egregious policy.”  The Department’s Deputy Director for the Directorate

of Compliance Programs, Mr. H. Barrien Zettler, testified on behalf of Complainant to explain  the

basis for the egregious policy and its application in this case.  According to Zettler, the Department

normally groups instances of the same or similar violations as one violation with a single proposed

penalty.  See Secretary of Labor v. Caterpillar, Inc.,  15 BNA OSHC 2153, 2170 (1993).  Under the

egregious policy, each violation is cited separately and a separate penalty is proposed for each item.

Thus, as in this case, rather than citing Respondent for one violation of the training standard (29

CFR 1910.147(c)(7)(i)); ninety-two separate violations representing Respondent’s failure to train

ninety-two employees at the authorized level were alleged with a separate penalty for each violation.
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During 1986 the maximum penalty for serious and other than serious violations was $1,000 and $10,000 for

willful violations.  The penalty limits were raised seven fold by the time the instance citation was issued with a minimum,

mandatory  penalty of $5,000 for each willful violation.  See Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1990, Pub. L. No.

101-508, § 3101 (1990).
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The genesis of the egregious policy occurred during 1986 when the Department concluded that the

penalties OSHA had been proposing were “ineffectual”; that is, the penalties “were not having the

effect that the statute intended those penalties to have.”22  (Tr. 5341)  According to Zettler, “ the

purpose of the penalties is to persuade the violating employer to correct the violations” and

“persuade the rest of industry...they cannot with impunity violate the standards.”  Id.  Zettler further

testified that “the Agency believed that it needed to find a way to increase penalties for employers

who needed to be persuaded in a more effective manner, and industries that needed to be persuaded

in a more effective manner that they could not with impunity violate the standards.”  (Tr. 5342)

Although the instance by instance program initially focused on record keeping violations, the scope

of the program soon expanded into safety and health matters such as ergonomics, construction, the

chemical industry and other areas where large numbers of fatalities and injuries were occurring.  The

Agency “tried to focus on those areas which we believed employers were neglecting, were

determining not to try - not to come into compliance.”  (Tr. 5346)  In 1990, the Agency issued CPL

2.80 (Exh. C-112), Complainant’s policy statement for issuing instance by instance citations.  The

criteria which must be met before an instance by instance citation may be issued pursuant to that

instruction are (1) that the alleged violation must be classified as “willful” and (2) at least one of the

following elements must be present:

(a) The violations resulted in worker fatalities, a worksite
catastrophe, or a large number of injuries or illnesses.

(b) The violations resulted in persistently high rates of
worker injuries or illnesses.

(c) The employer has an extensive history of prior
violations of the Act.

(d) The employer has intentionally disregarded its safety
and health responsibilities.

(e) The employer’s conduct taken as a whole amounts to
clear bad faith in the performance of his/her duties
under the Act.
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In this case the Secretary of Labor traveled to Oklahoma City and personally served the citation upon

Respondent and thereafter conducted a press conference in that city along with other high ranking  Labor Department

officials to announce the issuance of the citation.  The following day the Secretary sought a preliminary injunction

against Respondent in Federal District Court pursuant to Section 13 of the Act.  The preliminary injunction was denied

on the ground that the Secretary had failed to establish that Respondent’s employees were in imminent danger due to

the alleged noncompliance with the LOTO standard.   Reich v. Dayton Tire, A Division of Bridgestone/Firestone, Inc.,

855 F. Supp. 276 (W.D.  Oklahoma 1994).  The Secretary did not appeal the decision.

24
Section 17(j) of the Act states:

(j) The Commission shall have authority to access all civil penalties provided in this

section, giving due consideration to the appropriateness of the penalty with respect

to the size of the business of the employer being charged, the gravity of the

violation, the good faith of the employer, and the history of previous violations.
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(f) The employer has committed a large number of
violations so as to undermine significantly the
effectiveness of any safety and health program that
might be in place.

No statutory or judicial authority has been cited as a basis for this criteria nor is there any

indication as to the weight to be accorded each element.  Moreover, it is unclear which elements

were present in this case which convinced Mr. Zettler that this matter should be treated as an

“egregious” case.  Mr. Zettler continually emphasized the point, however, that it is necessary, in his

opinion, to assess high penalties under the egregious policy in order to achieve compliance with the

Act.  Specifically, the Agency has designated the LOTO standard as one of four standards for which

the egregious policy will be applied in order to achieve compliance with those standards.  (Tr. 5352)

Moreover, “an important part of the egregious program is not simply the size of the penalty, but the

wide spread...public notice of that penalty.”23  (Tr. 5355)

Unlike routine citations issued by local Area Directors, “egregious” cases are reviewed by

Mr. Zettler and his staff at the national office to determine whether the case satisfies the criteria to

be issued as egregious.  Upon being satisfied that the case merits an egregious designation, Mr.

Zettler formulates recommendations to be presented to the Assistant Secretary or the Deputy

Assistant Secretary of Labor for final approval.  (Tr. 5366)  Although Mr. Zettler did not personally

review the investigation file in this case, he was briefed by his staff and concluded that the case

should be issued as egregious with the maximum penalty of $70,000 per violation.  Mr. Zettler did

not consider the penalty factors set forth at section 17(j) of the Act24 when he proposed the penalties

for the alleged violations, even though he knew that the gravity factor was not the same for each



25
The Secretary’s authority to send such messages, according to M r. Zettler, falls within the “public purpose”

of the statute.  (Tr. 5400-01)
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violation.  (Tr. 5436-38, 5449-50)  The stated purpose for issuing the citation in this manner was to

“send a message”25 to Respondent and the tire manufacturing industry by proposing a penalty of

such magnitude that compliance with the LOTO standard would be enhanced.  (See generally

testimony of H. Berrien Zettler Tr. 5334-5500; Complainant’s Posthearing Brief at pg. 104 et seq.)

Moreover, the Secretary takes the position that assessing penalties falls within his “prosecutorial

discretion” to which the Commission must defer (Complainant’s Reply Brief at pg. 23-24)

notwithstanding the plain language of section 17(j) of the Act granting penalty assessing authority

solely to the Commission.  Secretary of Labor v. Hern Iron Works, Inc., 16 BNA OSHC 1619

(1994).

Respondent vigorously argues that the Secretary’s manipulation of the statute and the LOTO

standard to arrive at one of the largest penalties in the history of the Act was arbitrary and capricious

and a violation of the due process notice requirement.  (Respondent’s Post-Trial Brief at pg. 20

citing Kolender v. Johnson, 461 U.S. 352, 357-58 (1982))  Respondent argues that Complainant’s

written  “egregious” policy is nothing more than a vehicle to enforce the “personal predilections”

of government personnel.  Id.  Respondent points to the fact that the primary decision maker in this

case, Mr. Zettler, does not worry about government compliance with CPL 2.80, Complainant’s

egregious policy, when issuing citations.  (Tr. 5459-60)  Thus, Complainant’s “egregious” policy

is no policy at all and provides no notice to employers as to the criteria that must be met before a

citation will be issued.  (Respondent’s Brief at pg. 20)  Moreover, according to Respondent, the

arbitrary application of the egregious policy “is out of all proportion to any culpability Dayton may

have had regarding the LOTO standard and any legitimate interest that the Secretary may have in

deterring future LOTO violations.”  (Respondent’s Brief at pg. 22)  Respondent also cites Diamond

Roofing, Inc. v. OSHRC, 528 F.2d 645 (5th Cir. 1976), that “an occupational safety and health

standard must give an employer fair warning of the conduct it prohibits or requires, and it must

provide a reasonably clear standard of culpability to circumscribe the discretion of the enforcing

authority and its agents.”  Id. at 649 (emphasis added). 



26
29 CFR 1910.147(c)(1) provides:

(c) General -(1) Energy control program.  The employer shall establish a program

consisting of energy control procedures, employee training and periodic inspections

to ensure that before any employees performs any servicing or maintenance on a

machine or equipment where the unexpected energizing, start up or release of stored

energy could occur and cause injury, the machine or equipment shall be isolated

from the energy source, and rendered inoperative.
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As the Supreme Court has made clear, the statutory scheme enacted by Congress

“contemplates that the rights created by the [OSH] Act are to be protected by the Secretary.” 

Cullahoga Valley Ry. v. United Transp. Union, 474 U.S. 3, 6 (1985).  Exclusive rulemaking and

broad prosecutorial authority are vested in the Secretary.  See sections 6(b), 8(a) and 10 of the Act.

Moreover, instance by instance citing of individual violations falls within the prosecutorial

discretion of the Secretary.   Secretary of Labor v. Caterpillar, Inc.,  15 BNA OSHC 2153 (1993).

Indeed, a finding of “willful” is not necessary to affirm instance by instance violations.  Caterpillar

supra; J.A. Jones, 15 BNA OSHC 2201 (1993).  The Commission has held that the test to be applied

for determining the appropriateness of instance by instance citing is whether the cited standard

prohibits individual acts or a single course of conduct.  Caterpillar supra (citing Blockburger v.

United States, 234 U.S. 299 (1934)).  In Secretary of Labor v. Sanders Lead Co., 17 OSHC BNA

1197 (1995), the Review Commission held that multiple citing of the same standard was appropriate

in that case because the cited standard required evaluation and action “under certain unique

circumstances peculiar to each employee.”  Id at 1203 (emphasis added).  The Review Commission

rejected instance by instance citing of a roofing standard however, where the employer’s  failure to

comply with the standard was a single violation which exposed six employees to the hazard.

Secretary of Labor v. Hartford Roofing Co., 17 OSHC BNA 1361 (1995).  The Commission held

that “where a single practice, method, or condition affects multiple employees there can be only one

violation of the standard.  Id at 1365.  See also Secretary of Labor v. Arcadian Corp., 17 OSHC

BNA 1345 (1995).

Armed with his broad prosecutorial powers, the Secretary possessed wide discretion in citing

Respondent in this case for the violations disclosed during his investigation.  At the low end of the

spectrum, the Secretary could have cited Respondent for one violation of the general LOTO standard

set forth at 29 CFR 1910.147(c)(1)26 for its failure to establish an energy control program for the

machines listed in items 1 - 6 of the citation; failure to train the 92 employees listed in the citation
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as well as the required inspections set forth at item 8 of the citation.  A single penalty, assuming

willfulness, in the amount of $70,000 could have been proposed and a second citation alleging a

violation of 29 CFR 1910. 147(c)(5)(i) (Item 7, failure to provide locks, tags, etc.) with a $70,000

proposed penalty would cover all of the violations alleged in the citation issued by the Secretary.

At the other end of the spectrum, the Secretary possessed discretion to cite Respondent for violating

29 CFR 1910.147(c)(4)(1) for each individual machine described in items 1 - 6 of the citation.  Thus,

an individual citation could have been issued for each of the 58 TAM machines (item 1), 5

beadwinding machines (item 2), 180 curing presses and 7 doper machines (item 3), 4 tubers (item

4), 3 banburys (item 5) and 21 module machines (item 6) for a total of 278 separate violations.  See

Hartford Roofing supra.  Assuming a willful allegation for each machine, the maximum proposed

penalty would be $19,460,000.  Similarity, individual citations for 29 CFR 1910.147(c)(5)(i) (item

7) and 29 CFR 1910.147(c)(6)(i) (item 8) could have been issued for each of the 278 machines with

a maximum proposed penalty of $38,920,000.  Finally, as cited in this case, failure to train each

employee could be cited separately for an additional maximum penalty of $6,440,000.  Thus, the

proposed penalty range available to the Secretary in the exercise of his prosecutorial discretion is

a low of $140,000 or less to a high of $64,820,000.

The Secretary, of course, did not exercise his full discretionary powers in this case.  (Tr.

5576-80)  Items 1 - 6 allege that Respondent failed to institute energy control procedures for each

type of machine even though two distinctly different machine types are included in item 3 (curing

presses and doper machines).  (Tr. 5401)  Respondent’s failure to train employees at the authorized

level is cited on an instance by instance basis; however; its failure to provide locks, tags, etc. to each

employee are combined into one item (item 7) and the failure to conduct annual inspections for each

machine and certify those inspections are similarly combined into one item (item 8(a) and 8(b)).

There appears to be no logical or rational basis for citing Respondent in the manner set forth in the

citation and Complainant has been unable to give a rational explanation for the methodology utilized

by the Secretary when drafting the citation other than to “send a message” to Respondent and others

in the tire manufacturing industry.  (Tr. 5482, 5572-81)  Complainant freely acknowledges,

however, that the egregious policy was utilized in this matter for the sole purpose of raising the

proposed penalty to achieve that end.
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Respondent vigorously objects that the proposed penalty is grossly excessive and finds little

solace in the fact that the Secretary did not fully exercise his prosecutorial discretion by applying

the egregious policy to its full extent in this case.  (Tr. 5603)  Respondent cites TXO Prod. Corp.

v. Alliance Resources Corp., 113 S. Ct. 2711 (1993), and Pacific Mutual Life Ins. Co. v. Haslip, 11

S. Ct. 1032, 498 U.S. 1306 (1991), for the proposition that the government cannot impose a grossly

excessive penalty simply because that penalty will deter others.  (Respondent’s Reply Brief at pg.

15)  In a later case, BMW of North America, Inc. v. Gore, 116 S.Ct. 1589 (1996), the Supreme Court,

in finding that a two million dollar award was grossly excessive and therefore exceeded

constitutional limits, stated: “[e]lementary notions of fairness enshrined in this Court’s constitutional

jurisprudence dictate that a person receive fair notice not only of the conduct that will subject him

to punishment but also of the severity of the penalty that a State may impose.”  Id. at 1598.  The case

involved the award of damages assessed by a jury against an automobile manufacturer for failing

to disclose to the purchaser of a new automobile that it had been repainted prior to the original sale.

In his concurring opinion Justice Breyer stated:

Requiring the application of law rather than a decisionmaker’s
caprice, does more than simply provide citizens notice of what
actions may subject them to punishment; it also helps to assure the
uniform general treatment of similarly situated persons that is the
essence of law itself. 

Id. at 1605.

Justice Breyer concluded that the standards applied by the state were vague and open ended to the

point where they risked arbitrary results.  See also Seaboard Air Line Railway v. A.L. Seegers, 28

S. Ct. 28, 30 (1907).  

It is well established that the Secretary may cite individual violations of the same standard

on an instance by instance basis and it is concluded that the citation issued in this case satisfies the

requirements for issuing instance by instance violations.  Hoffman Construction, 6 BNA OSHC

1274, 1977-78 CCH OSHD ¶ 22,489; Caterpillar, Inc. supra; Hartford Roofing supra; Sanders

Lead supra.  However, authority to assess a penalty for those violations lies solely within the

discretion of the Review Commission.   Section 17(j) of the Act; Hern Iron Work, supra.  As stated

by the Review Commission:

The key question for penalty purposes is not how many errors
or omissions there were, but what penalty is appropriate.  Thus,



27
Pursuant to the principles applied by the Secretary in this case, any employer having six different machines

subject to the LOTO standard and employing less than 100 employees who are authorized employees within the meaning

of the standard is subject to a $7,000,000 proposed penalty if the Secretary concludes that the elements contained in CPL

2.80 have been met.
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although the Secretary may cite separate omissions to record injuries
as separate violations, he may not exact a total penalty that is
inappropriate in light of the four factors listed in section 17(j) of the
Act; the gravity of  the violations, the employer’s good faith, its size,
and its history of violations.

Caterpillar supra at 2173.

The penalties proposed by the Secretary in this case bear no relationship to the factors set

forth at section 17(j) of the Act.  (Tr. 5450)  On that basis alone, the penalty recommendation of the

Secretary must be rejected.  Furthermore, the egregious policy was applied arbitrarily in this case

to propose a high penalty in order to effectuate the “public policy” of the Act without any assurance

of “uniform general treatment of similarly situated persons.”  BMW v. Gore supra.27  Since the

egregious policy was applied by the Secretary for the sole purpose of influencing the assessment of

a penalty, the application of that policy may be disregarded by the Review Commission when

assessing a penalty in this case.  In other words, that which the Secretary considered for purposes

of proposing a penalty may be reviewed and accepted, modified or rejected by the Review

Commission for purposes of assessing a penalty pursuant to section 17(j) of the Act.  Caterpillar

supra.  See penalty section infra.

Penalty

    Section 17(j) of the Act requires that due consideration must be given to four criteria in

assessing penalties: the size of the employer’s business, gravity of the violation, good faith and prior

history of violations.  In Secretary of Labor v. J.A. Jones Construction Company, 15 BNA OSHC

2201 (1993), the Commission stated:

These factors are not necessarily accorded equal weight; generally
speaking, the gravity of a violation is the primary element in the
penalty assessment.  Trinity Indus., Inc., 15 BNA OSHC 1481, 1483,
1992 CCH OSHD ¶29,582, p. 40,033(No. 88-2681, 1992); Astra
Pharmaceutical Prods., Inc., 10 BNA OSHC 2070(No. 78-6247),
1982).  The gravity of a particular violation, moreover, depends upon
such matters as the number of employees exposed, the duration of the



28
Respondent is a large corporation employing thousands of people at multiple manufacturing locations.

Accordingly, Respondent’s size has not been considered as a reduction factor in assessing a penalty for any of the

alleged violations see: Desarrollos Metropolitanos, Inc., v. OSHRC, 551 F.2d 874 (1st  C ir. 1977).
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exposure, the precautions taken against injury, and the likelihood that
any injury would result.  Kus-Tum Builders, Inc., 10 BNA OSHC
1128, 1132, 1981 CCH OSHD ¶25,738 p. 32, 107 (No. 76-2644,
1981).

As previously discussed, the Secretary did not apply the penalty factors set forth at section 17(j) of

the Act as a basis for proposing penalties for the violations alleged.  Accordingly, the penalties

proposed by the Secretary must be disregarded for purposes of assessing penalties pursuant to

section 17(j) of the Act.   See Brennan v. OSHRC (Interstate Glass Co.)  487, F.2d 438 (8th Cir.

1973); Colorado Fuel & Iron Steel Corp., 2 BNA OSHC 1295 (1974).

The Secretary established by a preponderance of the evidence that Respondent violated 29

C.F.R. 1910.147(c)(4)(i) (failure to establish and use a hazardous energy control procedure) for

seven distinct types of machines (items 1-6 of the citation).  The evidence establishes that

Respondent willfully violated that standard for the tire assembly machines (item 1); the curing

presses (item 3(a)) and the Banbury mixers and feed belts (item 5).  Because Respondent had a

“heightened awareness” of these violations or the likelihood of their existence, each violation shall

be considered separately for purposes of establishing a penalty.

First, with respect to the tire assembly machines, the record supports a finding of a high

gravity factor for all of the second stage TAM machines and, in particular, the M-6 TAM machine.

There is a high probability of severe injury from the unexpected energization of these machines

including death.  This fact has been dramatically demonstrated by the tragic death of a size changer

for the M-6 machine.  The violation extended to each of the 58 second stage TAM machines at

Respondent’s location.  Accordingly, the maximum penalty of $70,000 is assessed based upon the

high gravity factor.  No reduction in the penalty is warranted because of good faith or history in view

of the willful nature of the violation.28  

With respect to the curing presses, (item 3) the record similarly supports the conclusion that

a high gravity factor exists as a result of the unexpected energization of the machines.  Such

movement by this massive machine would likely result in severe physical harm to the exposed

employee.  Moreover, the probability of injury and the extent of the violation are likewise high.



29
There is no evidence in the record that the Oklahoma City location had received any OSHA  citations prior

to the instant citation.
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Accordingly, in view of the willful nature of the violation, a penalty in the amount of $70,000 is

assessed.  No reduction of that penalty is justified on the basis of good faith or history29 in view of

Respondent’s “heightened awareness” of the violation.

Although a willful violation has been established relating to the Banbury mixers and feed

belts (item 5) the gravity factor for that violation is less than that which was established for the

TAMS and the curing presses.  Although there is evidence that employees could sustain a severe

laceration and possible broken bones as a result of the unexpected energization of these machine

parts, there is no evidence that death is likely to occur.  Thus, the severity of injury is not as great

as for the TAMS and curing presses.  Nevertheless, a significantly high gravity factor was

established by the Secretary based upon the severity of a resulting injury, the probability of injury

and the extent of the violation.  Accordingly, a penalty in the amount of $50,000 is assessed for the

violation.  As with the other willful violations, supra, no reduction in the penalty is justified based

upon Respondent’s good faith and history of previous violations.

The other violations of 29 CFR 1910.147(c)(4)(i) relate to the bead winding machines (item

2), the doper machines (item 3), the tuber mills, extruders and the Dayton Loader (item 4) and the

module machines (item 6).  All of these items have been found to be serious violations within the

meaning of the Act.  With respect to the bead winding machine, the evidence establishes that

changing the wire reels and the chuck could result in lacerations and possible finger bone fractures.

There is no history, however, of any injuries to employees while changing wire reels or the bead

winding chuck.  Based upon the evidence it is concluded that the gravity factor for this violation is

moderate.  Of the five bead winding machines, two are automated.  However, since the employees

are clearly not engaged in production work when changing wire reels and chucks, no credit is given

for good faith.  Based upon the foregoing, a penalty in the amount of $5,000 is assessed for this

violation.

Although the doper machines were combined with the curing presses by the Secretary (item

3), the machines are completely different and pose different hazards to employees.  Unlike the

curing presses, the hazards to which employees cleaning the doper machines are exposed are
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relatively minor.  There is evidence that the unexpected energization of the doper machine could

expose an employee to bruises, minor lacerations, and, possible broken bones to the hands.  The

probability of an employee sustaining those injuries, however, is slight.  Furthermore, there is no

history of any employee being injured while cleaning the doper machine.  Accordingly, it is

concluded that the gravity of this violation is low and a penalty in the amount of $3,000 is assessed.

With respect to the tread tuber and Dayton Loader (item 4) the evidence supports the

conclusion that employees were exposed to serious physical harm in the event that the machines

became unexpectedly energized while the employees were removing jammed rubber from the mills,

extruders, the Dayton Loader and conveyor belts.  Based upon the record, it is concluded that a

moderate gravity factor must be applied in assessing a penalty for this violation.  Only two tuber

operators were listed as exposed employees to hazards (items 19 and 108 of the citation).  There is

no evidence as to the total number of exposed employees nor is there any evidence of the duration

of employee exposure.  Although there is evidence of  multiple “misses”; involving a high potential

for employee injury as a result of unexpected energization, there is no evidence on the record of any

actual injuries.  Accordingly, a penalty in the amount of $5,000 is assessed for this serious violation.

Item 6 of the citation (module machines) has been affirmed as a serious violation of the Act.

Complainant lists forty-six employees exposed to the hazards presented by this violation and called

a large number of those employees to testify at the hearing in this matter.  Based upon that

testimony, it is concluded that a high gravity factor must be applied in assessing a penalty.  Many

employees have been exposed to severe lacerations and possible broken bones for long periods of

time with few or no precautions being taken to protect employees from potential injuries resulting

from unexpected energization of these machines.  For the foregoing, reasons, a penalty in the amount

of $7,000 is assessed for this violation.

Item 7 of the citation alleges that Respondent failed to provide appropriate locks, tags, etc,

to employees operating the machines listed in items 1 - 6 of the citation.  The violation has been

affirmed as willful for three of the seven machines listed (items 7(a) TAM machines, item 7(c)

curing presses and item 7(e) banbury).  The other alleged violations have been affirmed as serious

violations.  Although the Secretary has not articulated a rational basis for combining these particular

violations into one item of the citation with a single proposed penalty, other than the exercise of his

broad prosecutorial discretion, there is nothing in the record which supports a separate penalty for
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each willful violation.  Nevertheless, an analysis of each willful violation in relation to the penalty

factor is necessary in order to assess a penalty.  

With respect to the TAM machines, the Secretary has presented convincing evidence that

a high gravity factor should be assessed for this violation.  In addition to its failure to establish a

lockout procedure for these machines, Respondent’s failure to provide appropriate lockout devices

to exposed employees could have resulted in serious physical harm and, in one instance, did result

in the death of an employee.  The severity of the resulting injury due to this violation mandates the

maximum penalty.

Similarly, with respect to the curing presses, these massive machines exposed the

mold/bladder changers, PCI changers, to severe physical harm or death.  Accordingly, great weight

is given to the severity of injury factor when assessing a penalty for this violation.

Item 7(e), the banbury, has also been affirmed as a willful violation.  The gravity factor,

however, is not as high for this violation see supra pg. 84-85.  Specifically, the severity of a

resulting injury is not as great as the TAM or curing presses.  Nevertheless, the gravity factor for

the three machines is high.  Accordingly, a penalty in the amount of $70,000 is assessed for items

7(a), 7(c) (curing press) and 7(e) of the citation.

The remaining sub-items of item 7 have been affirmed as serious violations.  As previously

discussed, the high penalty gravity factor for the module machine alone warrants a maximum

penalty.  Accordingly, a penalty in the amount of $7,000 is assessed for items 7(b), 7(c) (doper

machines), 7(d) and 7(f).

Items 8(a) and 8(b) have been affirmed as a serious and other than serious violations,

respectively.  While it is true that Respondent’s employees, Mr. McCowan and Ms. Mattocks,

reviewed safety procedures within the plant on a regular basis, it is clear that those reviews failed

to achieve the intended purpose of the cited standard; that is, to uncover work activities which

exposed employees to injury as a result of unexpected energization of machines.  In that respect, the

inadequate inspections (reviews) exposed employees to serious physical harm or death (citation

items 1 - 6 supra).  Although the failure to certify that periodic inspections had been conducted has

been affirmed as an other than serious violation, the overall effect of these violations in combination

exposed employees to a high gravity factor.  Accordingly, a penalty in the amount of $7,000 is

assessed for item 8(a) and (b) of the citation.
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The remaining 92 items cited by the Secretary involve Respondent’s failure to train 92

employees at the “authorized” level.  The Secretary proposed a maximum penalty of $70,000 for

each violation for a total proposed penalty of $6,440,000.  For the reasons stated supra at pg. 74, it

is concluded that the Secretary has established that thirty-three (33) of the failure to train violations

were “willful.”  The remaining fifty-nine (59) failure to train violations have been affirmed as

“serious” violations.

The penalty proposed by the Secretary for the failure to train violations constitutes a major

issue in this case.  The primary violation committed by Respondent was its decision that LOTO

procedures need not be instituted for the work activities listed in items 1 - 6 of the citation.  Those

violations represent an application of the Secretary’s “egregious” policy as a result of  Respondent’s

failure to develop, document and utilize procedures for the control of potentially hazardous energy

( 29 CFR 1910.147(c)(4)(i)).  The Secretary concluded that Respondent willfully violated that

standard and proposed the maximum penalty of $420,000, pursuant to the egregious policy, for the

violations (Items 1 - 6 of the citation).  As a consequence of its conclusion that LOTO procedures

were not required for the work activities listed in the citation, Respondent, based upon that

conclusion, failed to provide to each employee engaged in the activities described in items 1 - 6 of

the citation, the locks, tags, chains and other equipment necessary to perform the LOTO procedure.

The Secretary properly cited Respondent for failing to comply with that standard (29 CFR

1910.147(c)(5)(i)).  However, rather than citing Respondent for the failure to provide the necessary

equipment to each employee, the Secretary combined the violations into one item and proposed a

penalty of $70,000.

 Also as a consequence of its conclusion that LOTO procedures were not required for the

work activities listed in items 1 - 6 of the citation, Respondent declined to train employees engaged

in those activities at the “authorized level.”  Rather than citing Respondent for one violation of this

standard (29 CFR 1910.147(c)(7)(i)) consistent with the manner in which the Respondent was cited

for its failure to provide necessary LOTO equipment to each employee, the Secretary issued separate

violations as to each employee and proposed the startling penalty of $6,640,000.  Thus, the principle

violation (failure to institute LOTO procedures) has a proposed penalty of $420,000, a secondary

violation resulting from the initial violation (failure to provide LOTO equipment to each employee)

had a proposed penalty of $70,000 and another secondary violation (training) had a proposed penalty



87

over 15 times higher than that proposed for the principle violation.  The Secretary has provided no

rational explanation for his decision to cite only one instance of one secondary violation and 92

instances of another secondary violation.  Moreover, there is no evidence that, having instituted

LOTO procedures, Respondent would decline to provide the necessary equipment and training to

employees particularly since there is no evidence of a history of prior “failure to train” violations

at the Oklahoma City location.  It appears that the Secretary has the cart before the horse; the

primary violation has a comparatively modest proposed penalty and a secondary violation has a

proposed penalty far in excess of that proposed for the principle violations due primarily to the

application of the Secretary’s egregious policy for that violation.  Under these circumstances, it is

not clear what “message” is being sent to Respondent nor is there any indication that the egregious

program as applied in this case, in the words of Justice Breyer, represents “the application of law

rather than a decision maker’s caprice ....”  BMW supra at pg. 1605.

The Secretary, as previously discussed, has the authority to issue instance by instance

citations for Respondent’s failure to train each employee and this Commission must defer to that

decision even though the Secretary has not articulated a rational basis for instituting that policy as

applied in this case.  Thus, I am constrained to assess a penalty as to each willful failure to train of

at least $5,000 per violation (see footnote 24).  The application of the statutory penalty factors for

the “failure to train” violations would, under ordinary circumstances, result in a penalty equivalent

to that assessed for Respondent’s failure to provide necessary LOTO equipment to each employee

(Item 7 supra at pg. 87).  Thus, although a penalty in the amount of $70,000 would be appropriate

for Respondent’s willful failure to train employees at the authorized level, I am forced to assess a

penalty in the amount of $5,000 for each willful violation (33) for a total penalty of $165,000.

The remaining fifty-nine (59) “failure to train” violations have been affirmed as serious

violations.  As previously stated, the Commission has held that “[t]he key question for penalty

purposes is not how many errors or omissions there were, but what penalty is appropriate”

Caterpillar supra at 2173.  Thus, the penalty must be based upon the penalty factors set forth at

section 17(j) of the Act.  Based upon those factors, it is concluded that the overall gravity factor for

the failure to train employees is moderate to high.  A large number of employees are affected by the

violation and, in many instances, serious physical harm or death could result from the violation.
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Although there is no history of previous violations, it is concluded that a penalty in the amount of

$1,000 is appropriate for each violation for a total penalty of $59,000.

Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law

All findings of fact relevant and necessary to a determination of the contested issues have

been made above Fed. R. Civ. P. 52(a).  All proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law

inconsistent with this decision are denied.

Order

(a) Willful Citation Item No. 1 alleging a violation of 29 CFR 1910.147(c)(4)(i) is affirmed and

a penalty in the amount of $70,000 is assessed.

(b) Willful Citation Item No. 2 alleging a violation of 29 CFR 1910.147(c)(4)(i) is affirmed as

a serious violation and a penalty in the amount of $5,000 is assessed.

(c) Willful Citation Item No. 3(a) (curing press) alleging a violation of 29 CFR 1910.147(c)(4)(i)

is affirmed and a penalty in the amount of $70,000 is assessed.

(d) Willful Citation Item 3(b) (doper machine) alleging a violation of 29 CFR 1910.147(c)(4)(i)

is affirmed as a serious violation and a penalty in the amount of $3,000 is assessed.

(e) Willful Citation Item No. 4 alleging a violation of 29 CFR 1910.147(c)(4)(i) is affirmed as

a serious violation  and a penalty in the amount of $5,000 is assessed.

(f) Willful Citation Item No. 5 alleging a violation of 29 CFR 1910.147(c)(4)(i) is affirmed and

a penalty in the amount of $50,000 is assessed.

(g) Willful Citation Item No. 6 alleging a violation of 29 CFR 1910.147(c)(4)(i) is affirmed as

a serious violation and a penalty in the amount of $7,000 is assessed.

(h) Willful Citation Items 7(a), 7(c) (curing press) and 7(e) alleging a violation of 29 CFR

1910.147(c)(5)(i) are affirmed and a penalty in the amount of $70,000 is assessed.

(i) Willful Citation Items 7(b), 7(c) (doper machine), 7(d) and 7(f) alleging a violation of 29

CFR 1910.147(c)(5)(i) are affirmed as serious violations and a penalty in the amount of $7,000 is

assessed.
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(j) Willful Citation Item No. 8(a) alleging a violation of 29 CFR 1910.147(c)(6)(i) is affirmed

as a serious violation and Item No. 8(b) alleging a violation of 29 CFR 1910. 147(c)(6)(i) is

affirmed as a non-serious violation with a total penalty in the amount of $7,000 assessed for both

violations.

(k) Willful Citation Items 9,10,11,27-30, 32-34, 37-40, 45, 51-56, 22, 36, 44, 57-63, 26, and 50

(33 violations) alleging violations of 29 CFR 1910.147(c)(7)(i) are affirmed as willful violations

with a penalty of $5,000 assessed for each violation (total penalty $165,000).

(l) Willful Citation Items 12, 14-17, 20, 21, 23-25, 35, 41-43, 46-48, 64-83, 85-98, 100-106 (59

violations) are affirmed as serious violations and a penalty of $1,000 is assessed for each of the

violations.

(m) Willful Citation Items 13, 18, 31, 49,84, 88 and 99 were withdrawn by the Secretary.

(n) The total penalty for all violations is $518,000.

                                                                          
ROBERT A. YETMAN
Judge, OSHRC

Dated:                                                 
      Boston, MA


